
 

                                   

v1 2015 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting London Assembly (Plenary) 

Date Thursday 4 July 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 

A meeting of the Assembly will be held to deal with the business listed below. 
 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Chair of the London Assembly 

Tony Arbour AM 
Deputy Chairman 

 Wednesday 26 June 2019 
 
 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer Telephone: 020 7983 4616;  
Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact: Alison Bell; Telephone: 020 7983 5769;  
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458.  If you have any questions about individual items 
please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 
 

Proper Officer: Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
London Assembly (Plenary)  
Thursday 4 July 2019 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Assembly is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 44) 

 
 The Assembly is recommended to confirm the minutes of the London Assembly 

(Plenary) meeting held on 6 June 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record.  
 

 The appendix to the minutes of the 6 June 2019 (Plenary) meeting is attached for Members 
and officers only. Transcripts and written answers for past meetings can be downloaded from 
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly


 

4 
 

4 Question and Answer Session (Pages 45 - 46) 

 
 Part A: 

 
The Assembly will put questions to the following guests on matters associated with the Old 
Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC): 

 Liz Peace CBE, Chair, OPDC; and 

 David Lunts, Interim Chief Executive, OPDC. 

 
Part B: 
 
Motion submitted in the name of the Chair: 
 
“That the Assembly notes the answers to the questions asked.”  
 
 

5 Petitions (Pages 47 - 50) 

 
 Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat   

Contact: Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 
 
The Assembly is recommended to note the petition listed in the report and to decide 
whether to refer the petition, and if so where to, and to seek a response to the 
points raised. 
 
 

6 Motions (Pages 51 - 56) 

 
 Report of: Executive Director of Secretariat   

Contact: Clare Bryant, clare.bryant@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4616 
 

The Assembly is recommended to consider the motions submitted by Assembly 
Members. 
 
 

7 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next scheduled meeting of the London Assembly will be the Mayor’s Question Time 

meeting which will take place at 10.00am on Thursday, 18 July 2019 in the Chamber, City 
Hall.  
 
 

8 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

 

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk
mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: London Assembly (Plenary)  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 4 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

E-mail: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: London Assembly (Plenary) 
Date: Thursday 6 June 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at: http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-
assembly/whole-assembly 
 
 
Present: 
 
Tony Arbour AM (Deputy Chairman) 

Gareth Bacon AM 

Sian Berry AM 

Andrew Boff AM 

Leonie Cooper AM 

Tom Copley AM 

Unmesh Desai AM 

Tony Devenish AM 

Andrew Dismore AM 

Len Duvall AM 

Florence Eshalomi AM 

 

 

Susan Hall AM 

David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

Keith Prince AM 

Caroline Russell AM 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM 

Navin Shah AM 

Fiona Twycross AM 

Nicky Gavron AM 

 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/whole-assembly


Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Shaun Bailey AM, Steve O’Connell AM and Peter 

Whittle AM. 
 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Assembly received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat.  

 

2.2       Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at Item 3, 

be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the 2 May 2019 (Plenary) meetings and 16 May 2019 (Mayor’s 

Question Time) meeting be signed by the Chair as correct records. 
 
 

4   Question and Answer Session - London Economic Action Partnership 
(LEAP) (Item 4) 

 

Part A: 

 

4.1 The Assembly put questions to: 

 Rajesh Agrawal, Deputy Mayor for Business, and London Economic Action Partnership 

(LEAP) Co-Deputy Chair, Mayor’s Office; 

 Rokhsana Fiaz OBE, Mayor of London Borough of Newham, LEAP Member, Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board; 

 Simon Pitkeathley, LEAP Board Member, and Champion for Small Business; 

 Debbie Jackson, Interim Executive Director, Development, Enterprise and Environment, 

Greater London Authority (GLA), and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner; and 

 Daniel Bridge, Programme Director, Royal Docks. 

 

4.2 The record of the questions put by Assembly Members and the answers given is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

4.3 During the course of the question and answer session the following commitments were made: 

 The Interim Executive Director, Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

undertook to: 

a) confirm how many businesses had been helped and jobs created by the Growing 

Places Fund; 

b) provide the LEAP’s plans on supporting the Government’s commitment to the 

Thames Estuary, including the priorities and actions for the future; 

c) provide details of work being undertaken on the LEAP website, and how the 

changes would improve the usability of the website and improve clarity regarding 

LEAP’s outputs; 

d) provide details of the target for the Construction Academy to get more Londoners 

into construction apprenticeships; 

e) provide details of any conversations with the Government about more funding for 

London to hit the target of 66,000 homes built a year; 

f) provide details of funding provided to Film London from the Growing Places Fund;  

g) details of all live projects being funded by the LEAP; and  

 The Deputy Mayor for Business undertook to provide the details of the work already 

being done by the LEAP to support and train women returning to work. 

 

Part B: 

 

4.4 The Chair formally moved the motion in the agenda, namely: 

 

“That the Assembly notes the answers to the questions asked.” 

 

4.5 Resolved: 

 

 The answers to the questions asked be noted. 
 
 

5   Petitions (Item 5) 

 
5.1 The Assembly received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
5.2 Unmesh Desai AM presented a petition with the following prayer: 
  

“We respectfully ask [Commissioner Cressida Rose Dick and Detective Chief Superintendent 
Sue Williams] for more police on our streets and in our communities. We are desperate for 
more police. 999 and 101 calls don’t work because there is no one to answer them. Very 
frequently when we call for help there is no one available. How long can this state of affairs 
continue? How can you expect us to feel safe?” 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

 
5.3 Resolved: 
 

That the petition be forwarded to the Mayor in his capacity as office holder of the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime. 

 
5.4 Keith Prince AM presented a petition with the following prayer: 
 
 “We, the undersigned, call for more police in Havering.” 
  
5.5 Resolved: 
 

That the petition be forwarded to the Mayor in his capacity as office holder of the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime. 

 
 

6   Petitions Update (Item 6) 

 
6.1  The Assembly received the report of the Executive Director of the Secretariat.  
 
6.2  Resolved:  
 

That the responses received to petitions presented at recent Assembly (Plenary) 
meetings be noted. 

 
 

7   Motions (Item 7) 

 
7.1 Léonie Cooper AM moved, and Andrew Dismore AM seconded, the following motion: 
  

“This Assembly notes the increasingly urgent need to secure London’s water supply. 
With an estimated population growth of two million, urgent warnings from the 
Environment Agency that England could face severe water shortages within 25 years 
due to climate change and the increasing likelihood of droughts in the immediate 
future, the need for a sustainable solution is paramount. 
  
Londoners consume on average 149 litres of water per person per day, around 5 per 
cent above the national average, and we recognise calls from Waterwise, echoed by 
the Environment Agency, for a target of 100 litres per person per day.  
  
We note the Mayor’s role in securing London’s resilience against climate change 
risks, and therefore call on him to lobby Thames Water and Affinity Water for a rapid 
and scaled-up smart meter and water-efficient device rollout across London; 
accompanied by an awareness raising campaign informing Londoners about the need 
to, as well as how to, reduce their water usage. 
  
This Assembly notes that both Thames Water and Affinity Water have been working 
together to meet the challenge of maintaining London’s supply. However, 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

demanding leakage targets must be met, and we call on both companies to meet and 
exceed OFWATs targets to cut leaks by 15 per cent 2020/25.  
 
Even with leak reduction and water efficiency improvements, a further solution to 
London’s water needs is required. This Assembly understands that a range of options 
have been considered to address the need for a long term, sustainable solution, but 
that many have unacceptable environmental consequences: 

i) Teddington Direct River Abstraction has been rejected by the Environment 
Agency, as the returned water is too warm and therefore ecologically 
damaging; 

ii) Deephams Re-use has also been rejected, due to its adverse ecological 
impacts; 

iii) Direct Transfer from the Severn to the Thames risks the transfer of Invasive 
Species to the upper Thames chalk streams and is therefore unacceptable; and 

iv) Oxford Canal Transfer will not provide sufficient quantity, reliability and also 
may have environmental impacts. 

  
This Assembly calls on Thames Water and Affinity Water to continue to develop 
potential Canal Transfer schemes, but notes that such schemes may not provide 
sufficient water in light of the changing climate. This Assembly further notes that 
the only scheme that will provide a reliable, sufficient and sustainable source of 
water is the Abingdon Reservoir. 
  
This Assembly calls upon OfWat and the Environment Agency to grant permission 
and Thames and Affinity Water to construct the Abingdon Reservoir as soon as is 
practicable, with completion no later than 2037, to ensure that Londoners continue 
to have a sufficient supply of wholesome water, and ecological impacts on the 
Thames, Lee and the chalk streams that feed them are minimised.” 

 
7.2 In accordance with Standing Order 6.6E(1), a named vote was taken on the above motion. 
 
7.3 The votes in relation to the motion in the name of Léonie Cooper AM were cast as follows: 
 
 For the motion: Gareth Bacon AM, Andrew Boff AM, Léonie Cooper, Tom Copley AM, Unmesh 

Desai AM, Len Duvall AM, Andrew Dismore AM, Florence Eshalomi AM, Susan Hall AM, David 
Kurten AM, Joanne McCartney AM, Keith Prince AM, Dr Onkar Sahota AM, Navin Shah AM, 
Tony Arbour AM (Deputy Chairman) and Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair).  

 
 Against the motion: Caroline Pidgeon AM. 
 
 Abstained from the vote: Sian Berry AM, Caroline Russell AM.  
 
7.4 With 16 votes being cast in favour, one vote being cast against and two Members abstaining 

from the vote, the motion was agreed. 
 
7.5 Susan Hall AM moved, and Keith Prince AM seconded, the following altered motion: 
 

Page 9



Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

“This Assembly condemns the action taken against PC Edwin Sutton by the IOPC. PC 
Sutton in the course of his duties, knocked a suspected moped mugger to the 
ground, and subsequently faced a criminal investigation and disciplinary 
proceedings, finally being cleared after two years. Whilst no police officer is above 
the law, many investigations against officers take place despite there being a very 
low evidence threshold and a minimal chance of conviction. Furthermore, 
investigations take far too long - in some cases years - leaving the officers 
concerned in a state of limbo for protracted periods of time. The Assembly therefore 
calls on the Mayor to make representations to the IOPC to significantly reduce the 
length of investigations and to review the evidential threshold that must be met for 
an investigation to proceed.” 

 
7.6 Following debate, and upon being put to the vote, the motion was agreed unanimously. 
 
7.7 Susan Hall AM moved, and Keith Prince AM seconded, the following motion: 
 
 “This Assembly believes London should be a safe place for people of all political persuasions 

and calls on the Metropolitan Police to use the full extent of the law when a personal attack 
occurs, from milkshake-throwing to physical violence and worse.” 

7.8 In accordance with Standing Order 3.7(A), Andrew Dismore AM moved, and Len Duvall AM 
seconded the following amendments to the motion: 

  
 Replace “to use the full extent of the law” with “to enforce the law fully”; and 
 
 Replace “from milkshake-throwing to physical violence and worse” with “from aggressive 

intimidation, harassment and online abuse to milkshake throwing, physical violence and 
worse.” 

 
7.9 Susan Hall AM, as mover of the motion and in accordance with Standing Order 3.6, accepted 

the amendment to the motion. 
 
7.10 Upon being put to the vote, the motion in the name of Susan Hall AM, as altered, namely: 
 
 “This Assembly believes London should be a safe place for people of all political persuasions 

and calls on the Metropolitan Police to use the full extent of the law to enforce the law fully 
when a personal attack occurs, from aggressive intimidation, harassment and online abuse to 
milkshake throwing, physical violence and worse.” 

 
was agreed unanimously. 

 
7.11 Andrew Dismore AM moved, and Navin Shah AM seconded, the following motion: 
 
 “This Assembly notes the massive benefits of both the hopper fare and freedom 

pass, which extend affordable public transport to millions of Londoners. 
  

We note with concern the urging of some at the “Manifesto for London” event, 
where according to UK Business Insider, delegates proposed scrapping the hopper 
fare, and raising the freedom pass eligibility age up to 75. 

  

Page 10



Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

Such a move would be punitive to older, poorer and less mobile Londoners. The 
impact would likely be to reduce bus usage, increase car usage, increase loneliness 
among older people and reduce economic opportunities for working Londoners. 

  
The Assembly resolves to write to the Mayor of London to commend him for his 
continued stance and support for retaining the freedom pass and hopper fare.” 

 
7.12 During the course of the debate on this motion, and under Standing Order 4.4(D), Gareth 

Bacon AM raised a point of order in relation to comments made during the debate, to provide 
clarity regarding what had taken place during the Manifesto for London event. 

 
7.13 Following debate, and upon being put to the vote, the motion was agreed unanimously. 
 
7.14 Len Duvall AM moved, and Jennette Arnold OBE AM seconded, the following motion: 
 
 “Today marks the 75th anniversary of D-Day, when allied forces embarked on a 

campaign that would lead to and the end of the Second World War in Europe and the 
defeat of fascism and totalitarianism.    

 
In line with the Assembly’s commitment under the Armed Forces covenant to 
recognise and remember the sacrifices made by the Armed Forces Community, 
particularly those whose lives were lost or were injured, this Assembly puts on 
record its thanks to all those service and civilian personnel who the secured relative 
peace Europe has seen for over 75 years.“ 

 
7.15 Following debate and upon being put to the vote the motion was agreed unanimously. 
 
7.16 Dr Onkar Sahota AM moved, and Unmesh Desai AM seconded, the following motion: 
 
 “The Assembly notes the events that took place on 24th April 1979 in Southall when 

the people of the town came together to resist a provocative meeting of the 
National Front in Southall Town Hall. This year marks the 40th anniversary of the 
unlawful death of Blair Peach during the events that unfolded on that tragic day.  

 
The Cass report, released in 2010, found that fourteen witnesses saw a police officer 
strike Blair Peach. The report concluded that there is no evidence to show Mr Peach 
received the injury that caused his death in any other way.[1] The report that was 
published in 2010 contained redactions and, until an unredacted version is made 
available, questions surrounding the death of Mr Peach will remain unresolved.   

  
We recognise the significant progress made by the Metropolitan Police Service in the 
past forty years. The establishment of the Independent Office for Police Conduct 
provides independent investigation of complaints against police officers, the MPS 
workforce is far more representative of the city it serves, and body-worn video has 
increased accountability and transparency over the actions of officers as they carry 
out vital work to keep our city safe.  

  
However, we also recognise that the MPS, MOPAC and public institutions still have 
more to do to improve the confidence of all the diverse communities they serve. In 

Page 11

file:///J:/Assembly-Plenary/Meetings/Meeting%20arrangements/Briefings&amp;Procedure%20Notes/2019/2019-06-06%20-%20LEAP/Plenary%20-%20Procedure%20Note%206%20June%202019.docx#_ftn1


Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

divisive times, and with increasing levels of hate crime, it is vital that all public 
institutions set a high standard for equality and tolerance. The realities of what 
happened forty years ago still cast a real shadow over our communities.  

  
We therefore call upon the Mayor and the Chair of the London Assembly to write to 
the Home Secretary to set up a public inquiry to hold to account those responsible 
for the unlawful death of Blair Peach. We further call on MOPAC to publish an 
unredacted version of the Cass Report.” 

 
7.17 Following debate, and upon being put to the vote, the motion was agreed unanimously. 
 
7.18 Navin Shah AM moved, and Unmesh Desai AM seconded, the following motion: 
 
 “This Assembly takes pride in its record of taking a strong and unequivocal stance 

against all forms of racism and injustice. Support of the IHRA definition of anti-
Semitism is at the heart of such basic human values and so is support for the All 
Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims’ working definition of Islamophobia. 
We are united in combating the evil of racism in whatever shape or form it raises its 
ugly head. This Assembly welcomes the decision taken by a number of Local 
Authorities and the Mayor of London to adopt the APPG’s working definition of 
Islamophobia.   

 
We recognise the limitations of the current working definition and welcome a 
continued debate to arrive at a form of words that will provide a common 
understanding of Islamophobia. However, we strongly support the principle of the 
definition that Islamophobia is a form of racism and that it must be challenged. We 
call on the Mayor to continue contributing to the ongoing debate so that a 
consensus on a common, practicable, definition can be reached.  

  
The noticeable rise of Islamophobia in our communities demands a strong response. 
This Assembly’s adoption of the definition sends a message that intolerance and 
hatred towards Muslims is wholly unacceptable in London, a city defined by its 
openness, diversity and respect for all.” 

 
7.19 Following debate and upon being put to the vote the motion was agreed unanimously. 
 
7.20 Len Duvall AM moved, Joanne McCartney AM seconded, the following motion: 
 
 “This Assembly values the role of teachers, but also teaching assistants and support 

staff across London’s schools, who are often overlooked. A good education improves 
children’s life chances and contributes to London’s economy, increasing skillsets and 
innovation. Teaching assistants and support staff play a vital role in supporting 
London’s most vulnerable children, including those with special educational needs 
and disabilities (SEND). They are also some of the lowest paid workers in the 
education sector. 

 
Therefore, this Assembly expresses its concern about the impact of cuts to teaching 
assistants and support staff, with particular reference to those that have recently 
taken place at Halley Academy School in the borough of Greenwich. Cuts to these 

Page 12



Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

roles prevent vulnerable children from receiving the support that they are entitled 
to, restrict opportunities for Londoners and go against the Mayor’s ambition to 
create a fairer and more equal city. 

 
This Assembly calls on the Mayor to add his voice and support to all teaching staff in 
London. The Assembly also requests the Education Panel to consider an 
investigation into the value and contribution of teaching support staff in London, 
particularly children with SEND, taking evidence from employers, workers 
representatives and Ofsted, as a matter of urgency.” 
 

7.21 Following debate and upon being put to the vote the motion was agreed unanimously. 
 
 

8   Mayoral Commitments (Item 8) 

 
8.1  The Assembly received the report of the Executive Director of the Secretariat. 
 
8.2  Resolved:  
 

That the commitments made by the Mayor of London during the London Assembly 
(Mayor’s Question Time) meetings between May 2016 and May 2019 be noted. 

 
 

9   Delegation to Chairs of Committees (Item 9) 

 
9.1 Resolved:  
 

That authority be delegated authority to Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-
committees and working groups to agree, in consultation with relevant party Lead 
Group Members and Deputy Chairs:  

a)  The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken by the 

relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its work 

programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any related 

project plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal meetings; 

and 

b)  The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 

programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the GLA 

Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by the GLA 

Oversight Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



Greater London Authority 
London Assembly (Plenary) 

Thursday 6 June 2019 

 

 
 

 

10   Future Meetings of the London Assembly (Item 10) 

 
10.1  Resolved:  
 

That the London Assembly Plenary meeting on 4 July 2019 be used as a question 
and answer session with the Chair and interim Chief Executive of the Old Oak and 
Park Royal Development Corporation meetings. 

 
 

11   Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

 
11.1 The next scheduled meeting of the London Assembly was the Mayor’s Question Time meeting 

which will take place at 10.00am on Thursday, 20 June 2014 in the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

12   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

 
12.1 There were no items of urgent business. 
 
 

13   Close of Meeting  

 
13.1 The meeting ended at 1.40pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 4616;  

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 

Page 14



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Plenary Meeting: Thursday 6 June 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 4 – Question and Answer Session – London Economic Action 
Partnership (LEAP) and Royal Docks 

 

[Note: The Deputy Chairman, Tony Arbour AM, took the chair at 10.00am.] 

 

Tony Arbour AM (Deputy Chairman):   We progress to today’s principal business, which is a question and 

answer session on the London Economic Action Partnership (LEAP) and the Royal Docks.  We have with us this 

morning Rajesh Agrawal, who is the Deputy Mayor for Business, as well as Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz [OBE], who is 

Co-Chair of the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board.  I think it is your first time here.  Welcome.  It 

is not very arduous.  We have Simon Pitkeathley, who is Business Member of LEAP and Champion for Small 

Business.  Welcome.  We have Debbie Jackson, Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and 

Environment and described as “Senior Responsible Owner”.  Finally, we have Daniel Bridge, who is the 

Programme Director of the Royal Docks.  Welcome. 

 

There will be three lead-off questions but before we have the first of the lead-off questions, Rajesh Agrawal 

will make an opening statement. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Thank 

you very much.  I would like to begin by thanking you for inviting us here today because it is a great 

opportunity for us to showcase the work of LEAP.   

 

As London’s Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), LEAP is wholly funded by Government grant and it leverages 

significant match funding by third parties for its projects.  Its partnership of business and public sector 

expertise is tasked by national Government with determining local economic priorities and leading on economic 

growth and job creation in London, in partnership with the Greater London Authority (GLA) and the Mayor.  In 

addition to our business members, our trade union representatives ensure that the voice of London’s workforce 

is heard in all decision-making.   

 

It is a myth that the economy only happens in shops and offices.  It happens everywhere.  LEAP is solely 

focused on investments that will lead to good growth, growth that benefits both businesses and communities.  

With the continued uncertainty of Brexit having a very negative impact on our economy and local communities, 

LEAP’s work is needed now more than ever before.  I am hugely thankful to LEAP’s business members, who 

volunteer large amounts of their time for their love of London and their ambition for it and its and 

communities to do well.   

 

Assembly Members have previously made comments that LEAP hands out money to businesses, including in 

the interests of its own members.  This is highly inaccurate and I would like to correct that.  Our governance 

arrangements have been rated by Her Majesty’s Government as good, with elements of excellence, for two 

years running, ensuring that value for money and community benefit is scrutinised at every step of the 

decision-making process.  Most of our programmes are open to large-scale application grants and any conflicts 

of interest are very carefully managed.  LEAP is fully committed to transparency and actively publishes a huge 

range of information on its website, including all LEAP funding decisions.   

 

I am very proud of what LEAP has achieved so far.  Over the lifetime of the funding that LEAP is due to receive 

we will have created 60,000 new jobs and apprenticeships, provided business support to over  

Page 15



 

 

15,000 entrepreneurs and businesses, and provided support to over 150,000 learners.   

 

Tony Arbour AM (Deputy Chairman):   Thank you very much.  We now have the first lead-off question, 

from Assembly Member Hall.  Since we have a panel of five, perhaps you would like to tell us, please, who you 

would like to answer your question. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, I will.  Thank you, Chairman.  Obviously, I will go to the Deputy Mayor, please.   

 

2019/11381 - Effectiveness of the LEAP 

Susan Hall AM 

 

How would you rate the effectiveness of the LEAP? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  LEAP 

is a very business-led Board.  Half of all the members of the LEAP Board are independent business members.  

We measure our performance very rigorously through various different mechanisms.  We have one of our 

business members of LEAP here with us today, Simon Pitkeathley.  It might be best if I ask him to answer that, 

if I may. 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  Of course, if that is OK?  What we are particularly good at is identifying and delivering 

investment to support good economic growth in the interests of all Londoners.  We measure performance and 

effectiveness through several mechanisms.  There are four main ones.  All funding applications are supported 

by business cases in line with the Government’s Green Book, as you would expect, which must include outputs 

that applicants evidence they can achieve.  Secondly, applications are assessed in accordance with set criteria, 

including value for money and community benefit.  We undertake significant due diligence for larger projects, 

as you would expect.  Delivery partners report on delivery at regular intervals and we undertake thorough 

evaluation of each project, and the Board receives quarterly reports on outputs, performance, risk and spend.   

 

If I can give you some examples, to the end of March 2019, in the last financial year, LEAP’s investments 

funded 112 projects with capital funding and 15 projects with development funding.  That totalled 

£171 million.  We have approved 80 Skills for Londoners Capital Fund projects to a total of £128 million and 

these will assist 111,000 additional learners and allow for the deployment of more than  

13,000 apprenticeships.  We have also provided business support to over 4,600 people through events, 

workshops and meetings.  To date, Growth Deal funded projects have created 3,000 jobs and apprenticeships 

and supported 29,000 Londoners, and provided business support to 478 entrepreneurs and small and medium 

enterprises (SMEs).  I can talk more about sector engagement, the Good Growth Fund or -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  No, no.  If I go through my questions and there is time left over then perhaps you can 

choose what to talk about.  Are you aware, Deputy Mayor, of the longstanding concerns about the 

transparency of LEAP? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  LEAP 

publishes all its documents and the whole Board is fully committed to transparency. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Interestingly, I spent most of yesterday trying to go through your website.  It is like 

ploughing through treacle trying to find out where money is going, how the projects are faring and what they 

are doing.  You will remember that there were recommendations from the Economy Committee that we had in 

September [2018], some very good recommendations.  One of them was a clear and regularly updated list of 

Page 16



 

 

funded programmes on the website, including a breakdown of projects that receive funding as well as how 

much has been spent on each project and the purpose of the spend.  That was a recommendation.  Has that 

been implemented? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  That is 

being implemented as we speak.  The whole website is being redesigned and will be ready in the next few 

months.  There is a huge amount of information on the website and I appreciate that at times, if somebody 

wants to find -- but also at the Economy Committee meeting I remember there were Members who could not 

find the website.  I do not know where they were looking because if you just search “LEAP London” on Google 

the website will come up.  But I completely take your point, we have taken all of those into consideration and 

the website is being redesigned as we speak. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You took my point in September [2018] and here we are in June [2019] and the website is 

still absolutely impossible to navigate. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  I would 

not say it is impossible to navigate.  It can be improved and we are improving it as we speak.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  In the answer to me, from that letter from the Mayor, it said:  

 

“Phase 1 of this work is focusing on improving navigation and adding project and programme-level 

content on the current site and will be completed before the end of 2018.  This will include key outputs 

and outcomes from programmes, which will address your request regarding the --” 

 

We were asking about something specific.  That should have been completed by the end of 2018. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Some 

of those changes - the quick wins, the ones that could be implemented very quickly - have been made.  I am 

not sure when was the last time we had a chance to look at the website but some of those changes have been 

made.  There are some changes that will take a bit longer and they are happening as we speak. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I have just told you that I was looking on the website for the entire day yesterday, trying to 

search different projects.   

 

I see that you have published the LEAP annual report, which is - typical for this administration - full of lots of 

glossy pictures, full of exactly what Simon [Pitkeathley] said earlier - you have done this, you have helped this 

many people - with absolutely no detail at all.  How are we supposed to do our jobs properly when we cannot 

get hold of information? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  All the 

detail is on the website but we are happy to provide you, if there are any specific requests, with any particular 

information you are looking for. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I think it was Assembly Member [Tom] Copley who suggested that residents or the public 

could put in their postcode and find out what was going on in their area.  We all thought that was an extremely 

good idea, and that was in the recommendation from the Economy Committee.   

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  If I could just add a couple of points to the Deputy Mayor’s 

Page 17



 

 

response on this one, one of the things that we have developed over the last year is much better performance 

reporting arrangements with the full LEAP Board and the LEAP Investment Committee.   

 

You will have seen within the papers for the LEAP Board that we have a quarterly update on performance that 

reports on performance against our programmes at programme level.  It does not go into project-level detail.  

At any given time we have up to 200 or so projects and with two hours with the LEAP Board once a quarter we 

simply do not have time to go into that level of detail with them.  What we do report through to the relevant 

level of delegation, be it the LEAP Board, the LEAP Investment Committee or the Programme Board -- every 

project that gets approved at the point of approval is within those papers and those papers are available 

publicly.  There is detail on projects at the point of approval and they are reported on in terms of their 

performance at programme level rigorously every quarter to both the Investment Committee and to the LEAP 

Board as well, and all of those papers are available publicly.   

 

The postcode search is something that we are looking at.  It takes longer to implement because it is a more 

involved digital project but it is something that we are looking at.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes.  You see, this letter from the Mayor that came back to me as Chairman of the Economy 

Committee at the time said that it would be focusing on improving navigation and adding project and 

programme-level content.  You were copied into that letter, as were Simon [Pitkeathley] and Rajesh [Agrawal]. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Yes.  We have that project-level content at the point of approval 

and we report on the programme level delivery on a quarterly basis.  As part of that, as you will have seen in 

some of the paperwork, where there are projects that are causing issues or have challenges then they are 

reported on by an exception basis. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You see, there is millions of pounds of taxpayers’ money going into this.  We are supposed 

to be a massive scrutiny board looking at different aspects of the different projects.  We are told that there are 

hundreds or thousands of new jobs being created.  None of us can go in there and find exactly where it is 

because it is just all over the place.  Your comments?  This is taxpayers’ money we are supposed to be looking 

out for. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I am sorry, I am at risk of repeating myself but at the point that the 

programmes are approved, the projects are all listed in detail in terms of the outputs and outcomes that they 

are due to be delivering and the detail of the projects that are approved. That goes for all our programmes 

from Crowdfund London, with the smallest investments, up to the Skills for Londoners Capital Fund with 

multi-million pound investments.  Then we report on progress against those at programme level and, by 

exception, where there are challenges we report on those as well at a project level. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It is not easy to find.  You were told this, Deputy Mayor, in September [2018].  The whole of 

the Committee agreed that it was just hopeless.  TaxPayers’ Alliance were there.  Even they could not find 

anything with all their -- 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  They 

could not find the website, if I remember it correctly.  I do not understand how they got to that position. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I do not know how we are in this position, spending hours and hours trying to look into and 

go into depth on some businesses.  As an example, I found one business yesterday.  I thought, “I will just look 

Page 18



 

 

into that and see what has happened to that business”.  £250,000 of taxpayers’ money went into that and 

within less than three years they have moved their business out of London.  It is little things like that that need 

to be looked at.  To me, that is a lot of money.  In the big scheme of things it might not be but if there are lots 

and lots of projects at £250,000 at a time the money adds up.   

 

We cannot do our job properly if we cannot get information.  I have all the information on that particular 

company and that was just one that I managed to find out, but that was going through loads of different bits 

of the website.  Please can we have your assurance that that website will be changed and up and running to 

make our job easier and to make it possible for our job to be done?  This is millions of pounds of taxpayers’ 

money.   

 

Approximately how much do you think, Deputy Mayor, goes through the LEAP every year? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  There 

is a huge amount of information available on the website in the interest of transparency, and like I said, the 

website is being redesigned and improved as we speak.  I would very much welcome comments on the new 

website as and when it is launched. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  When will it be launched? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  In the 

next few months.  We have been working on it. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  In the next couple of months? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  In 

coming months. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK, and it will be easy to look into different projects, will it?  Because you say -- 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Well, I 

think there is a huge amount of information on it.  It depends on the person’s digital skills as well.  That is why 

we have a digital training programme and we are funding that to improve people’s digital skills.  We have tried 

to make it as easy as possible but we are further improving it. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You started your address to us with, “We are fully committed to transparency”.  Quote. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It is no good just saying, “We have delivered this, we have delivered that”, with absolutely no 

evidence to back it up.  It is our job to look at the evidence.  If we cannot easily find that evidence it is not 

good enough, quite frankly.  Can you give us a date by which this Assembly will know that the website is up 

and running and everybody, regardless of whether they have in-depth digital skills or not, can go to it and see 

when these projects are completed and how much money has been spent on them?   

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I just want to add a further point to this discussion.  One of the 

things we are very mindful of, and our LEAP Board are very keen to push us on, is to make sure that as many 

organisations as possible can engage with our programmes.  We also need to be mindful of their finite capacity 

Page 19



 

 

and resources to work with our programmes.  Historically, if you go back a number of years, we worked 

exclusively with local authorities.  We have managed to broaden our reach and we are very proud of that in 

that we work with a lot of third sector organisations and community organisations as well.   

 

We need to be really mindful of the burden that we place on them in terms of reporting.  We absolutely 

monitor their performance but not only do we need to be mindful of the time our teams in City Hall are taking 

in terms of producing information on a super-regular basis, we also need to be mindful of the barriers to 

participation of other organisations and the burden of administration that we place on them.  It is really 

important that we have that balance right.  I am just concerned, in terms of managing expectations across  

200 projects, that if we have monthly project-level reporting publicly that will consume more than an entire 

team’s time here at City Hall and it will also put a burden on our delivery partners as well. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, but -- 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  We do monitor project performance but we do also need to be 

mindful of the work involved in producing that.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  I accept that, but equally lots of these businesses are taking tens of thousands of pounds of 

taxpayers’ money and therefore I have a duty to make sure that information is there for us to make sure it is 

being spent properly.  I will move on to my next question because we will get nowhere with that.   

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Sorry, do you mind if we just respond on one point there? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Be quick, if you may. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  It is just that the only activities that LEAP engages in that fund 

businesses are things like the London Co-Investment Fund.  In the main, LEAP does not fund businesses. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Fine.  OK.  It is nice to know where the money goes, which is the essence of the question.   

 

Out of ten funding streams for LEAP, I was surprised that there was nothing specific whereby businesses or 

business districts could put in bids for funding for policing.  Can you tell me why not? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I missed the beginning of that question.  Did you catch that? 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  Is it about policing? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes.  You have ten different funding streams. 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  And there are none for policing? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  No. 

 

Page 20



 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  Well, I think that is because it is outside of the remit of LEAP to fund that sort of thing, 

because the Mayor obviously oversees the Metropolitan Police Service, I assume.  That is not within the remit 

of LEAP. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  The reason I am asking is that there was some polling done and, to cut to the chase, basically 

the top priority for businesses in London post-Brexit is tackling knife crime.  It was a big poll done by the 

London Chamber of Commerce, by ComRes, and they said that their biggest issue is knife crime.  Given that 

that is a survey that was done, I was wondering if it had been picked up by any of you.  Clearly not. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  We talk to business networks all the time so we are aware of the 

top priorities for London’s businesses.  We would not put LEAP funding into policing directly.  What we do 

support are a range of place-based initiatives that improve local communities.  Some of those may improve 

wayfinding, they may improve the wellbeing of local communities or designing out crime.  We will contribute 

towards broader outcomes but LEAP funding is not designed for or intended for policing or policing budgets. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  The London Regeneration Fund has spent £12.9 million to date.  What does it have to show 

for this? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  For the London Regeneration Fund I believe the figure is higher 

than that.  The London Regeneration Fund completed all of its programmes at the end of the last financial 

year [2018/19] and it spent £16.3 million against 13 projects in total.  To date, the projects have created 183 

jobs and 4,560 square metres of commercial floorspace.  It is worth noting that for all of our programmes, the 

outcomes and outputs are collected following completion because we want to know that they have been 

achieved rather than just projected.  We will be continuing to collect the outputs and outcomes for the London 

Regeneration Fund over the coming months. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  My figures are not quite the same.  How many jobs did you say were created? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Jobs, 183. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Out of a lifetime of 1,867 required on the latest figures we have, which were 28 March 

[2019].  The target was 1,867. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Yes.  As I said, outputs and outcomes are collected following 

completion of projects.  Lots of these projects completed at the end of March [2019] so we are in the process 

of collecting those outputs and outcomes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It is way off, is it not? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I would expect it to be so at this stage. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You will come back to us on that specific one, will you?  We have here that there was 

unspent saving, it only created 10% of the commercial space and delivered 5% of the jobs. 

Page 21



 

 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I am sorry, I can only repeat myself.  We are in the process of 

collecting outputs and outcomes, having focused on completing the projects by the end of the financial year 

which it was our commitment to do. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You see the difficulty?  We got these out of the minutes somewhere, not that they are 

published easily for anybody to see, and quite frankly some of the figures on some of these projects are quite 

appalling.  The Growing Places Fund.  If you look at the programme status, jobs created: not available.  

Lifetime: 26,730, supposed to be.  How much has been spent on that fund after May 2016? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  The Growing Places Fund to date has spent £95.1 million.  The 

Growing Places Fund was the first funding that Government allocated to LEPs under the previous 

administration and it went to a range of larger, quite complex infrastructure projects in the main.  Lots of those 

are still in the later stages of delivery and as I said before, outputs and outcomes are collected towards the end 

of projects. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How many businesses have been helped so far in that one? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I cannot give you that figure right now but I am happy to follow up. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  The figure we have is four businesses out of a target of 557.  Only 1,758 jobs have been 

created from a lifetime target of 26,730.  That is only 7% with less than two years to go.  Would you call that 

an underperformance or not? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I would not make comment on performance until the projects are 

completed and all of the outcomes and outputs have been collected. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You see, the thing is it could be an absolute disaster in the end.  Millions and millions of 

pounds have gone into this.  We have no way of checking through any of this.  I assume you must have figures 

somewhere with proper projections of where you are going to be at the end.  Why are they not published?  

The Deputy Mayor said you are fully committed to transparency. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  The figures you have in front of you are forecasts for the outcomes 

and outputs that will be achieved by the end of the programme. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  So, 7% at the moment with less than two years to go and you think it is going to be all 

right? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Those are the forecast outcomes and outputs towards the end of 

the programme.  Just to reassure Assembly Members, we do rigorously monitor our projects.  We get 

monitoring reports from our projects but we do not just receive them and file them, we meet with our project 

partners.  We pride ourselves on not just churning money out the door.  We spend a lot of time working with 

our project partners.  For us spending the money is important but as you are raising, the delivery of the 

Page 22



 

 

outputs and the outcomes is paramount.  We put a lot of time and effort into doing this.  We have both the 

monitoring mechanisms but also the capacity at City Hall to spend time with the delivery partners to ensure 

that the projects are delivered to achieve the outcomes that we set out to achieve. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Unfortunately, we have to take your word for it because there is just no way we can find 

evidence of any of this in so very, very many of these projects.  I will leave it there for the moment, Chairman. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  To the Deputy Mayor, in terms of looking at the effectiveness of the LEAP, 

back in 2017 I asked at a [London Assembly] Plenary [meeting] what steps the LEAP is taking to address 

barriers to maternal employment in London and whether you would look into providing funding and training 

for childminders to improve childcare provision.  At that time you said to me, “Absolutely”.  So, what 

programmes have you put in place to expand the childcare workforce in the capital? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I am just going to jump in to make a point.  One of the things that 

restricts the LEAP in its ability to support the kind of outcomes that you are referring to is that the money that 

the Government gives us - setting European funding aside for a moment - is, in the main, capital.  We have 

done a lot of work to look at childcare challenges and how you can support that and we have tried to think 

about how we could support it through capital funding, and it is actually revenue-funded programmes that we 

need to support the childcare challenge.  We have had many discussions with Government about the necessity 

for revenue funding in order to address some of the outcomes that you are describing but for as long as 

Government gives us capital funding it is quite difficult to get to some of these outcomes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK, but London has the lowest maternal employment of any region in the 

United Kingdom (UK).  Women living in London are less likely to be in employment if they have dependent 

children and many parents cite lack of childcare as one of the key factors preventing them from returning to 

the workplace.  This has huge implications for our economy.  What are you doing to address this?  I hear what 

you are saying about capital money but being creative -- you have all these businesspeople around the table.  

You have told us what a dynamic Board you are.  You are good, excellent in areas.  You are not excellent in this 

area.  What are you doing to address this?  The Deputy Mayor committed to it. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Like 

Debbie mentioned, a lot of this LEAP money comes with strings attached and most of the money goes for 

capital funding, but increasingly there are business models that are now emerging where there are co-working 

spaces with childcare in it as well.  Those are some of the new business models emerging and we are looking at 

how we can engage with those sorts of businesses and encourage them to have more childminding and 

childcare facilities within the co-working spaces. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What I am really looking at and wanting to hear you aiming for is childcare 

training, training up the workforce.  The number of childminders in London and nursery places is falling.  You 

could invest in the buildings, potentially, with the capital you have, but investing in the training of the 

workforce would fit perfectly, it seems to me, with some of these pots of money you have.  We have 

mentioned the Growing Places Fund, the Skills for Londoners Fund and so on.  It would have this double 

benefit not only of skilling up a workforce, creating the childcare places and new jobs, but allowing parents to 

return to work.  It is a win-win situation.  Will you commit today to seriously considering how you, with all your 

expertise, can invest and train up this workforce to help London’s economy and particularly help women to 

return to work? 

 

Page 23



 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Yes, 

absolutely, and what we are also happy to do is come back to you with the things that we are already doing.  

Some LEAP money is also going to colleges and so on and they are already offering.  We can come back to you 

specifically on what that -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You could come back with the detail on this.  This needs to be a proper 

programme so we can really help those parents get back to work and also create those jobs and the skills 

needed in the sector. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  We are 

also fully committed. For example, if you look at the London Co-Investment Fund, which comes from LEAP 

money, which co-invests in start-ups, we have already invested in over 120 start-ups.  The percentage of 

female founders in those start-ups is more than twice the industry average.  We particularly focus on 

businesses founded by people of black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) background and also female 

founders as well.  Those are some of the things.  We are quite committed on that, but I am happy to come 

back to you with more on that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I look forward to some detail in writing.  Thank you very much. 

 

Tony Arbour AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, please do that.  We now go onto the second lead question, 

from Assembly Member Cooper. 

 

2019/11382 - Supporting Economic Growth 

Leonie Cooper AM 

 

Since the LEAP was created, what actions have you taken to support economic growth and 

job creation in the capital? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you very much for the opening remark from Rajesh and also the contribution 

from Simon [Pitkeathley].  I want to ask about actions.  I would like to helicopter back up a bit from a long 

discussion about the website into what actions you have been taking to support economic growth and job 

creation, and I think I would like to start with Debbie because you talked about the 200 projects.  Could you 

divide those up into groupings so that we can get a feel for the overall thrust of what you have been doing?   

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Yes, of course.  We are really clear in the work that we do with the 

LEAP that we need to have some priorities and clarity over our funding.  I agree, 200 projects need to have 

some clear, overriding priorities.  There is an overriding priority to the LEAP of progressing inclusive growth.  

The LEAP have been very clear with us that it is not just about raising productivity, it is about raising 

productivity in a way that enables all Londoners to participate in the benefits of growth.   

 

The Good Growth Fund is one of the main programmes that we have brought forward under LEAP.  The Good 

Growth Fund is a £70 million programme and it supports a range of place-based, community, cultural and 

green infrastructure projects to achieve the overriding aim of good growth.  What we do with that programme 

is we take it out to London and we invite London to tell us what their local area would benefit from, because 

we do not think for one second that sitting here in City Hall we are best placed to understand the challenges 

and opportunities of some of London’s localities.  We work with local partners.  Time and again we see that 

programme oversubscribed with brilliant projects.  That is the Good Growth Fund. 

 

Page 24



 

 

As part of the Good Growth Fund we have Crowdfund London, which supports smaller projects particularly 

targeted at community and local groups.  We recognise that the Good Growth Fund oversailed some groups 

and was too much money, frankly, for them to be able to participate in some of our work, so we specifically 

designed Crowdfund London to target local and community groups with smaller amounts of money and also 

for projects that really demonstrate engagement and participation of the local community.  That has supported 

a whole range of projects across London, over 100 successful crowdfunding campaigns through that, and 

engaged over 1,650 Londoners.  That has been a really successful programme. 

 

The London Regeneration Fund I spoke about, which has just finished.  If you like, that was a forerunner to the 

Good Growth Fund.  We took a lot of learning from the design of the London Regeneration Fund and fed that 

into the Good Growth Fund.  They have similar sorts of aims and outcomes but the Good Growth Fund is the 

current fund. 

 

Then we have the Skills for Londoners Capital Fund, which supports capital investment in London’s further 

education providers.  Again, there are different strands of that to support the large providers but we also have 

a small projects and equipment fund as well. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  OK.  I am going to stop you there because I am running out of time. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Yes.  I have more but I can stop. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I wanted to bring in Rajesh to see if there is anything you wanted to add to that, but 

one of the things I also wanted to ask is: what do you perceive to be the challenges that are facing the LEAP 

with regard to economic growth and job creation?  Then I would also like to bring in Rokhsana [Fiaz OBE] and 

Simon [Pitkeathley] on that as well, actually.   

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Yes, 

absolutely.  This is a hugely exciting area.  This is talking about real, actionable programmes that are making a 

difference.  Thank you for the opportunity for me to talk on that.  I will give you examples of some of the 

programmes we are running.   

 

For example, the London Co-Investment Fund, which I just mentioned earlier on.  It is the largest in England of 

its kind, which invests in early-stage businesses.  We have invested in well over 120 start-ups but we always 

co-invest.  When we put £1 in, the target was that £3 would come from the private sector but it ended up 

being a 1:7 ratio, which means we put £1 in and £7 came from private sector money, which is exciting.  It 

means over £140 million went into the start-up ecosystem.  We are very delighted we just exited from our first 

investment of that fund, sold the business to Facebook.  It is quite good.  Again, the BAME representation and 

women’s representation on -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I would like to hear about the challenges you think you face as well.  Perhaps I could ask 

Rokhsana.  What do you think are the challenges?  I am running out of time as well. 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co‑Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  OK.  I will try to be very brief.  For the benefit of other 

Assembly Members, I am not a businessperson.  I am an elected representative representing the London 

Borough of Newham and I co-chair the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone [Programme Board], which is a significant 

programme of the LEAP with some £314 million already secured or committed through approvals at the LEAP 

Page 25



 

 

Board level last July [2018].  The Programme Board that I co-chair has enabled just over £200 million of that 

money to be directed across four principal areas of activity across the zone.   

 

The one itself is London’s only Enterprise Zone.  It is scheduled to deliver, over a lifetime of 25 years,  

40,000 jobs and around £5 billion of gross development value including value for local residents and 

residents -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We are going to come back to the Zone. 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co‑Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  Yes.  In terms of challenges -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We are going to come back to that in subsequent questions from my colleagues.  Sorry, 

could I just ask you, Simon?  What do you think are the challenges that are facing London in terms of 

economic growth and jobs?  It will have to be a really short answer because I am completely out of time. 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  For London specifically, different from other LEP regions, I think the biggest challenge looking 

forward is how we position ourselves in relation to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund that is coming up.  If I had 

one thing I could change, it would be the way London is perceived by the rest of the country and thereby 

Government in terms of making sure that we get our hands on a fair share of that new fund when the 

European Union (EU) funding dries up in 2023. 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  OK.  Thank you.  Thank you, Chair. 

 

[Note: The Chair resumed the chair at 10.36am.] 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Good morning, all.  Mr Devenish? 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Thank you.  Welcome, Chair.  Mr Deputy Mayor, will you commit LEAP resources to the 

Crossrail to Ebbsfleet rail extension, please?  If you would like you can write to me, if you need to look into it 

in more detail. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  No, 

LEAP’s funds are not for that.  LEPs are not supposed to do that.  We do not fund transport infrastructure. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Second question then.  What plans do you have to support the Government’s 

commitment to the Thames Estuary announced in March [2019], please? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I would point to the Local Industrial Strategy here.  We are in the 

process of developing a Local Industrial Strategy with our LEAP Board and one of the chapters - there are not 

many chapters – is dedicated to that is the relationship between London and its corridors, and London and the 

rest of the country.  We will be working with our LEAP Board members to consider what priorities and what 

actions they may want to take in future, to Simon’s [Pitkeathley] point about London’s relation to corridors 

and the rest of the country. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Do you think you will be able to come back to me more specifically on that question 

once you have reflected? 

Page 26



 

 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I am happy to. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Thank you.  In terms of the question from AM Hall about the website, could you write 

back to the Assembly in terms of what exactly you are doing on the website and what it will do in terms of 

outputs on that website and clarity compared to what we have at the moment, please? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Happy to. 

 

Tony Devenish AM:  Thank you very much. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Picking up what Simon [Pitkeathley] said, but I think it is a question for Rajesh, in 

your quarterly update reports the uncertainty surrounding Brexit is impacting on your programmes.  What are 

business saying to you about the effects of Brexit so far and what do they want to happen up until the end of 

October [2019] and thereafter?  Basically, how are you preparing London’s economy for the impact of Brexit? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Brexit 

is a huge risk to London’s economy, potentially.  Businesses are very concerned around Brexit and there is still 

no clarity on how Brexit will land.  That is why we are running a number of programmes to help businesses 

navigate through Brexit through the London Growth Hub, which is funded by LEAP.  We have a big section on 

Brexit - it is called the Brexit Business Resource Hub - where we pool so much information from all different 

business organisations and so on, because clearly there is a lack of information from the Government for SMEs 

and also the Government sometimes publishes technical papers that for a small business owner may not make 

sense.  It is an opportunity for us to translate some of that and pool the information from other business 

organisations on that.   

 

We also recognise that just online information on Brexit is not enough.  That is why we are now arranging 

face-to-face consultations.  That started in March this year [2019].  There are workshops and face-to-face 

advisory meetings between businesses and experts.  But clearly if in October [2019] we leave the EU without a 

deal it is going to be the worst outcome for businesses. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Thank you for that.  What impact will leaving the EU have on foreign direct 

investment into London and what impact has the uncertainty caused so far?   

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  It has 

had an impact on the pipeline.  A lot of this comes from London & Partners, who are tasked with bringing more 

foreign investment into London.  It has had an impact on the pipeline but because of all the hard work and the 

additional money that the Mayor has put in, meaning more boots on the ground in some of the cities around 

the world, we have not seen as much disruption just yet.  But it has clearly had an impact on the pipeline. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Simon, do you want to comment? 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  If it is OK, Assembly Member Dismore, I would just like to pick up on the questions about      

EU funding generally and segue into that because that is a direct impact. 

Page 27



 

 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That is going to be my next question.  Basically, because you oversee the European 

Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) programme in London, the current ESIF programme runs until 2020 

and London has an indicative allocation of almost €750 million, split between the European Social Fund (ESF), 

which funds employment and training, and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), which supports 

improvements to economic competitiveness.  If you want to answer, that is fine.  After Brexit and the expiry of 

these funds next year [2020], what certainty is there over any replacement funding thereafter? 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  One of my roles on LEAP is to chair the ESIF Committee.  I am actually 25 but this is what it 

does to me! 

 

Can I just correct a couple of points in yesterday’s press release from the Assembly?  I think there are some 

misconceptions in there.  One is that the EU money is all capital grants.  In fact, it is not.  It is mostly revenue, 

which is nice to have.  LEAP money is capital, the EU money is not.   

 

The other is that these grants will not be available from next year [2020].  That is actually not true.  

Government have committed to continue funding the ESIF, which is the ESF and ERDF programmes that you 

outlined there, until 2023.  I would say - credit where it is due - it is an example of the Government trying to 

think ahead and plan for that, but when we get to 2023 the UK Shared Prosperity Fund is, as I mentioned 

earlier, quite a big concern.   

 

Just a quick update on some of the figures you said there.  The total fund for ESIF - that is ESF and ERDF - is 

€748 million.  That is £508 million for ESF and £184 million for ERDF.  We require a 50% match of that.  We 

think that typically we can talk about programmes being worth nearly £1.4 billion over seven years.  That is a 

measure of the impact that will have if we do not get that right.   

 

Just to hammer home the point, if we on LEAP, the GLA as a whole, the Mayor and the Assembly could agree 

on something, it is probably that we could all do an awful lot for London to help Government understand the 

cost to UK plc of not getting the UK Shared Prosperity Fund allocated at least as equitably, in terms of 

London’s share of that fund, as it does now in future.  I am certainly up for it and I am sure all LEAP members 

are up for working with you guys to try to help Government see that because at the moment - I have been to 

other LEAP areas - they gloat and they use the general negative attitude towards London to help make their 

case for their investment ahead of ours.  We know that the UK does not benefit when London does not do as 

well as it can.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Just a final, very quick question.  I take your point about the rest of the country 

because London and the southeast subsidises the rest of the country by huge amounts from the taxation from 

London.  If we go belly-up, it will really hurt them.  Has the Government guaranteed to continue the funding 

post-2023 - assuming we have left the EU by then, which may not be the case, the way we are going - at the 

same sort of level? 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  It is not clear at the moment.  I think we are still waiting for a full consultation on this.  The 

indication is that the total quantum for the country will be the same but not how that is divvied up across 

regions, and London is treated as a region by Europe so it is quite important. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Page 28



 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I want to ask a question about the London Growth Hub, which is a great initiative.  How 

successful has it been so far in supporting London’s SMEs and its microbusinesses?  Who would like to take 

that? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  I am 

happy to talk about the London Growth Hub.  For the benefit of those who are unaware of what the London 

Growth Hub is, essentially it is a free-to-access programme to help London’s business support offer.  It is for 

entrepreneurs, social entrepreneurs, microbusinesses, SMEs and so on.  In fact, there was a report produced 

just last year [2019] by the Assembly around how many businesses in London are aware of the business 

Growth Hub.  That was about one-third but we are constantly trying to raise awareness of Growth Hub.   

 

It has done a number of things since in this programme.  It has engaged with 1,722 businesses face-to-face, 

online plus offline, and then it has provided 474 businesses with medium or high-intensity support.  We are 

constantly engaging with businesses in social media, wider events.  There are numerous events that are taking 

place so far.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Thank you.  Perhaps I should ask Simon this question.  I looked into the website for the 

London Growth Hub and I think it is very good.  There is a map on it which says, “This is the map of where the 

workspaces are for London”.  It has flags on it.  It has 500 flags on it at the moment and I thought I would look 

up the Bermondsey area.  I did this because the Economy Committee has been told that workspace for 

businesses is absolutely under tremendous pressure, and we know this because there is a diminishing stock of 

low-cost business space, affordable workspace, and it is exacerbated by the permitted development rights and 

it is exacerbated by way above the rest of the country’s hikes in rents, business rates and so on, bearing out 

your point before.  There is a real shortage of space so this is a really important website and map, but I looked 

up Bermondsey and the first thing that came up was the Shard.  What I want to ask you is: is this really about 

affordable workspace or low-cost business space? 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  If it is the same map that we are talking about, I think it is trying to identify all workspaces.  As 

someone who runs a workspace where we give away almost all our space for free, I am very aware that while 

that entry-level stuff is very important, we also need a continuum, a chain as well.  It is a point well-made 

about the Shard but I would also say some people do need that kind of office space too.   

 

We have done a lot of work supporting affordable workspace.  As I say, it is an area I know quite well.  I 

co-chair the Mayor’s Workspace Provider Board so we are constantly looking at this and that map is a constant 

work in progress because there are new spaces popping up, changing and moving all the time.  It is not always 

easy to keep on top of it.  But if you ask me, “Should there be more and should it be more affordable?”, 

absolutely.  You are preaching to the converted here. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I am very pleased with that answer.  So it is a work in progress.  You will be putting more.  

It is obviously an advert, is it not? 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  Yes. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You will be putting more and more workspace on there, because 500 is a beginning but it 

needs to have more.   

 

Page 29



 

 

I just want to say, on behalf of the Economy and Planning Committees, I put forward at the [London Plan] 

examination-in-public on low-cost business space and affordable workspace - I do not know if it will be taken 

up by the inspectors or the planning team but it would be good to get your support for this - that we should 

have boroughs monitoring how much low-cost and affordable workspace we actually do have.  That is 

submarket.  That is a new policy from the Mayor, an excellent policy.  Then there are lots of policies to help 

them protect it.  We need your backing from the LEAP to make sure that boroughs are going to do that 

monitoring. 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  You certainly have my backing.  I think it is an extremely important policy.  I do see in my 

borough, in Camden, that affordable workspace is starting to come up in Section 106 agreements and things 

like that.  There is movement there but I think we could all sign up to that.  I think it is a very easy policy to do, 

understanding that there are also the conflicts and many demands on space from lots of area, including 

housing and freight consolidation, would you believe, and things like that as well.  But if you are asking me, 

workspace, workspace, workspace. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I hope that speaks for the panel. 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co‑Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  If I may, in the context of the Enterprise Zone over in 

the Royal Docks we already have planning consent for some 8 million square feet of workspace.  A significant 

amount of that is already released under the auspices of the first phase of the ABP development that is coming 

through and that opened in April [2019].  We are looking at mapping all of the space that we have across the 

zone, including space that we can use at low cost for meanwhile use for fledging, emerging enterprises and 

small businesses from across London but also more locally. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Excellent.  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Good morning to you all.  To both Debbie and Simon, I recently attended a high 

street summit in Streatham where a number of the businesses raised concerns around the impact of Brexit, the 

impact of business rates, the impact of charging, the impact of lack of charging infrastructure for electric 

vehicles, congestion; a whole range of issues.  I just wanted to know how the High Streets Investment Strategy 

will support high streets to respond to some of these pressures.  Some of the other pressures that came up 

were around high rents, business rates revaluation and big competition from online retailers.  We are seeing a 

lot more people choosing to shop online instead of the high streets.  There is also the big impact of Brexit 

affecting consumer confidence.  How is the High Street Strategy going to help with that? 

 

Simon Pitkeathley (Business Member and Champion for Small Business, London Economic Action 

Partnership):  Firstly, the point is very well made that things like increasing rents and business rates are 

having a huge impact on high streets generally, but I think we would all recognise that we do use online 

shopping far, far more than we ever used to.  High streets are becoming places where we go to do things, to 

have experiences, not necessarily to go and buy things in the traditional way.  I think the idea that the high 

street is dying is not entirely fair, but the change may well be painful.   

 

What we can do with LEAP is try to spot those painful moments and see how we can help people transition to 

different business models if they are trying to do that.  Areas like Business Improvement Districts or town 

centre managers can take control of some aspects.  Rent and rates, unfortunately, are outside any of our direct 

control in almost all circumstances.  I think there are lots of things that can be done and we are well-placed.  

Back to the earlier point from Assembly Member Gavron, workspace has to become a really important part of 

Page 30



 

 

what the high street becomes.  Getting activity, and different activities, but motion and maintaining motion in 

and around high streets is vital in terms of helping them evolve to what they are going to have to be in the 

new economy.   

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I would just add a couple of points, if I may, just to underline the 

points Simon has made.  For me there are three forces impacting on high streets.  There is the restructuring of 

the retail market.  There is also their importance as locations for growth in terms of addressing the housing 

crisis as well.  Also, fundamentally important to the work that LEAP does, there is the social role that high 

streets play in terms of being focal points for communities and places that communities identify with.  Often 

our most vulnerable communities identify on the high streets.   

 

As agents of change, as policymakers, they are assets to our work.  They are central to our work and have been 

over many years.  The first two rounds of the Good Growth Fund have directed over £25 million worth of 

funding towards high streets and town centre improvements.  There are the programmes and the funded 

projects.  Also, Crowdfund London supports high streets.  We also do research around high streets as well.  We 

have completed last year [2018] some research looking at the social role of high streets, the outcome of which 

informed some of what I am saying about the social role of high streets, and we are underway with another 

piece of research that will report in the autumn [2019], which looks at strategies for how to consolidate and 

develop the strategic rationale for investment in high streets so that we and other partners can really value 

their role in the delivery of London’s growth and in supporting London’s communities. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is great.  I am really running out of time so quite a quick response from you, 

Debbie.  We have seen the LEAP’s Good Growth Fund award a number of high streets, including the Blue in 

Southwark, in the heart of Bermondsey.  Just today the Mayor has announced an additional pot of that Good 

Growth Fund of £20 million.  When will we get some of the results about the projects that were funded last 

time?  When are we going to see some of the results from that? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  We have done two rounds.  We are releasing a third round of the 

Good Growth Fund.  Projects complete and finish all the time.  One of the challenges for us is that you 

announce the fund, and then it goes off and delivers and they all finish at different times.  It is quite 

challenging for us to bring that story back to one place.  We get great local coverage but we have recently 

brought in extra communications resource in order that we can tell that story about the successes and 

achievements of the LEAP, in order that we can bring that cumulative story back together as projects deliver.  

We are doing some work on that.  We acknowledge that we have more to do. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Good morning to you all.  My question first of all is to Rajesh but I would welcome any 

other comments if anyone has any, and it is about construction skills.  How will the £7.2 million of LEAP 

funding for the Mayor of London’s Construction Academy help to tackle the capital’s housing crisis? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and LEAP Co‑Deputy Chair for Mayor’s Office):  It is 

something that is hugely important, especially in light of Brexit because a significant number of our workforce 

in the construction industry comes from Europe.  It will have a big impact.  Also, we are facing a challenge 

where a significant part of the construction industry workforce are very close to retirement age.  If you have to 

solve, as we want to and we are working towards solving the housing challenge in London, it is very important 

we have the right kind of workforce.  That is why we are investing in the Construction Academy. 

Page 31



 

 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Yes, just a couple of points to make on top of that.  The Mayor’s 

Construction Academy is both a capital and a revenue programme.  It is funded by LEAP funding but it is also 

funded by other GLA funding as well.  In the first instance, it seeks to recognise London’s further education 

providers that are already doing great work in this space.  There are a lot of programmes out there already.  

But then once that recognition is in place, it invites those providers to participate in and apply for capital 

funding to improve facilities.   

 

A lot of work went into whether the Mayor’s Construction Academy should be one big thing or whether it 

should be a distributed model.  Given the scale and complexity of London, the conclusion was that it should 

have been a distributed model but with a degree of hub and spoke.  The Mayor’s Construction Academy 

programme will have centres of excellence that will support an ecosystem, if you will, of construction skills 

providers across London’s subregions.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  The GLA is getting the Adult Education Budget from the academic year 

2019/20.  It has been devolved.  Will you be able to provide further funding into the LEAP and the 

Construction Academy because of this devolution to ensure we continue to skill up the next generation of 

construction workers? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  The devolution of the Adult Education Budget is not something 

that technically is under the control of LEAP, if you see what I mean, but of course we talk to our LEAP 

members about it and report through.  There is, if you like, a bridge across to the governance arrangements for 

devolution.  It is early days in terms of devolution.  It starts in September [2019] in terms of the 

implementation of that funding.  In terms of sectors, the construction sector is a priority, as has been identified 

through the creation of the Mayor’s Construction Academy.  In terms of the application of future funding, I do 

not want to commit to additional funding going into the Mayor’s Construction Academy at this time although 

it did attract additional funding from the Mayor’s Strategic Investment Fund from business rates funding in 

recognition of the importance of it.  I see it continuing to be a priority sector. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We know that in terms of apprenticeships, apprenticeships in construction in London are 

very low out of the total number.  Do you have a target, a benchmark or something like that for the 

Construction Academy to get more Londoners going into construction apprenticeships?   

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I am afraid I do not know the answer to that question as I sit here.  

Can I come back to you separately on that? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, that is absolutely fine.  Just finally, the Government’s [Sir Oliver] Letwin review into 

build out rates said that we would need a flash programme, over five years of on-the-job training for 

bricklayers in particular, if the country is going to meet the house-building target.  Have you had any 

conversations with Government about greater funding for such a programme in London to ensure that we hit 

the very ambitious target of 66,000 homes a year? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Again, I am sorry, I do not have the answer to that question, 

although I am intrigued by the reference to bricklayers because, generally speaking, when we talk about 

construction skills the consensus is that actually, with modern construction methods, bricklaying is one of 

Page 32



 

 

many skills that need to be developed.  In terms of the detailed answer to your question, can I come back to 

that separately, please? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.   

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you.  My questions are about the LEAP and diversity.  How effective has the 

LEAP been in creating an environment to assist under-represented Londoners wishing to establish new 

start-ups? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  This is again something that is very close to our hearts because London’s big 

strength is its diversity and we should try to reach out to some of the most deprived communities and also the 

ones who need the most help, whether it is people from ethnic minorities, whether it is women, whether it is 

disabled people.  Talent is everywhere and we must nurture this talent.  That is why we are running some of 

the programmes. 

 

If you look at the London Co-Investment Fund, our record on investing in businesses founded by women and 

founded by people from BAME communities is very strong.  In fact, women cofounders make up 22% of those 

businesses compared to only 9%, which is the UK average. 

 

Through the LEAP we have also done a number of roundtables to engage with entrepreneurs from different 

communities.  We had specific roundtables hosted here in City Hall with women entrepreneurs specifically from 

BAME communities and Middle Eastern communities.  We had a particular roundtable - it was absolutely 

amazing to see the talent in the room - of disabled entrepreneurs and so on.  We put diversity at the heart of 

everything we do. 

 

It is also reflected in the composition of the Board itself.  If you look at the LEAP Board, it has entrepreneurs 

and it has larger business representation, but in terms of the ethnic makeup of the group and the gender 

makeup of the Board as well.  Diversity is at the heart of everything we do. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Great.  Thank you. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  I have questions on regeneration and a planning perspective specific to the Royal Docks 

development.  This is an opening question to the Deputy Mayor. 

 

As the body responsible for providing strategic oversight to the Royal Docks on behalf of the GLA, how does 

the LEAP ensure delivery of the development brief and accountability? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Can I ask my colleague to answer that question for me? 

 

Page 33



 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  Thank you very much.  I sit on the LEAP Board as the 

Co-Chair of the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone [Programme Board], which, as you will be aware, is a 

collaboration between the Mayor of London and [the London Borough of] Newham.  As previously stated, over 

a 25-year period a significant number of jobs are intended to be created, including a contribution to London’s 

economy of around £5 billion over that ten-year period. 

 

Issues of governance are very important.  As part of the governance arrangements of the Royal Docks 

Enterprise Zone, particularly in the context of ensuring issues around the work of the Enterprise Zone being 

efficient and having impact and having social value for the residents and local people in that part of the 

capital, as well as contributing to London’s economy, we have regular reporting mechanisms.  The Delivery 

Programme Board meets every two months.  I co-chair with Colette O’Shea [Managing Director of London and 

Retail Portfolios, Land Securities Group].  There is the presence of the Deputy Mayor for London  

[Joanne McCartney AM], responsible for housing delivery because of the quantum number of housing that will 

be delivered across the Zone in addition to jobs and economic growth. 

 

I am also going to be passing on to my colleague Daniel Bridge, who will be able to provide you with some 

more detail around the specific area of interest that you have from your question. 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  Yes, I will just add to what Rokhsana has said.  The 

very interesting thing about the Enterprise Zone and the oversight from the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone 

Programme Board is that all of the money that is used to fund the delivery plan is generated by business rate 

income and the business rate income is delivered only if the development is delivered.  In addition to them 

monitoring the outcomes and the outputs in our delivery plan, they pay very close attention to the forecast 

business rate performance, which is driven by that development. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Can I follow through with another question?  How do the governance arrangements for the 

Royal Docks compare to those at the London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) and the Old Oak and 

Park Royal Development Corporation?  Newham Council has a huge stake in it and the GLA is the prime 

landowner and so this has a very, in a sense, different makeup but, again, has a major challenge as well with 

opportunities.  How does it actually work compared to the other two Mayoral Development Corporations 

(MDCs)? 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  We are doing something very innovative in the Royal 

Docks.  It is the first time in the Docklands redevelopment that there has been a genuine joint working 

arrangement between the local authority and the regional authority.  That creates opportunities as well as 

challenges, but in the main it is working incredibly well in the Royal Docks.  As you will know, in an MDC you 

have one elected - through the Mayor - oversight of land and planning powers, both plan-making and 

planning decision powers.  In the Royal Docks, the majority of the land is owned by the Mayor of London and 

so that is the same, but the local authority retains plan-making powers and planning decision powers.  That 

means that it is really important that both organisations are representing the people that they need to 

represent to make sure that we get really good decisions for both organisations.  That is working very well in 

the Royal Docks. 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  If I can add, Debbie [Jackson] made reference to the 

governance arrangements and the regime as it applies to the LEAP and all the programmes that sit within the 

context of the LEAP.  The LLDC has a completely different governance regime because it is a different type of 

entity to the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone [Programme] Board.  Since I stepped into office last May [2018] and 

Page 34



 

 

as part of my role as the Co-Chair of the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone [Programme Board] and in line with my 

administration’s priority around enhancing governance, I have undertaken with colleagues and the other 

Co-Chair a refresh and a review of our existing governance arrangements as they pertain to the Royal Docks 

Enterprise Zone. 

 

We have put in additional elements of governance enhancements.  At local level that includes the 

establishment of a local ward councillor board or working group that is kept regularly appraised of what is 

happening with regards to the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone, ensuring that as the Programme Delivery Board, in 

my role as Co-Chair alongside my other Co-Chair colleague, we are robustly scrutinising what is being 

presented to us by the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Delivery Team in advance of information being provided 

to the LEAP Board, and ensuring also that we are being as transparent as possible. 

 

I noted some of the concerns in response to some of the earlier questions.  The Royal Docks Enterprise Zone 

has its own website.  There is a link from the website to documents pertaining to decisions that are made at 

the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board, which I co-chair.  They are contained on the GLA LEAP 

section of the website, but in addition what we are working through in terms of the localised website for the 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone is ensuring that layer of transparency so that local residents can access 

documents around key decisions that we are making as a Board. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Can I have a very quick response to my last question?  The Mayor is planning to publish his 

own Opportunity Area Planning Framework next year [2020] - I do not know when exactly next year - but, 

given that the Enterprise Zone was actually established in 2011 and began in 2013, is 2021 not far too late to 

bring a planning framework forward? 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  I cannot comment on the decisions made under 

previous Mayor of London administrations as to whether or not to designate -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Yes, but the current Mayor is following the -- 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  -- an Opportunity Area Planning Framework that 

covers the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone, but clearly, as the Mayor of Newham and as the Co-Chair of the Royal 

Docks Enterprise Zone [Programme Board], I am really pleased that it is coming forward.  The wider area 

surrounding the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone will greatly benefit from its designation as an Opportunity Area 

Planning Framework. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you very much.   

 

Joanne McCarthy AM:  My question is for Rokhsana and Daniel and it is about culture and social 

infrastructure on the Royal Docks.  If I could start with social infrastructure, the Council’s own Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan highlights the pressures there are on those schools and health facilities you need to go with the 

extra housing.  Are you certain that the Royal Docks will be able to accommodate the needs that you have? 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  Certainly, in the context of the social value offer that 

the Enterprise Zone is presently developing and driving forward.  That is in three principal areas - the place 

piece, the connectivity piece and the economic piece - and then the activation. 

 

Page 35



 

 

In terms of the specifics around the community infrastructure requirement, the hospitals and schools, there has 

been some really and good effective synergy between the local planning authority - that is Newham - and the 

GLA under the auspices of the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Delivery Team to ensure that there is a coherence 

around the infrastructure need for residents coming into the Zone as the quantum number of housing delivery 

comes to fruition.  Already in the context of the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone and some of the areas that sit 

just outside of the Zone, we have most recently announced the opening of a health centre and Newham 

Council has undertaken arrangements with one of the principal developers that is contained within the Royal 

Docks Enterprise Zone around schooling provision over the next five to ten years.  Do you want to add? 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  The only thing I would add is that it has worked very 

well.  It is one of the benefits of the local authority retaining control of the planning powers in the area 

because it is able to plan in line with everything else that it is doing across the borough.  The Opportunity Area 

Planning Framework - and we are discussing this now - gives us an opportunity to think about looking across 

the Royal Docks area and also the Canning Town and Custom House regeneration areas, which are led purely 

by Newham.  We can think more innovatively about social infrastructure provision and think about whether 

there may be ways to change locations of some of that infrastructure in ways that might free up land for other 

activities or uses or deliver collocated social infrastructure facilities. 

 

Joanne McCarthy AM:  I am aware that you have a community arts programme that is taking place.  Are you 

confident that similar programmes will last beyond the Royal Docks construction phase?  What plans are there 

to have culture permanently there at the heart of the development? 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  Just by way of reassurance, absolutely, at the heart of 

my administration’s commitment is incubating and cultivating a much more sustained strategic approach to the 

cultural offer and the cultural capital of our borough.  It is going to be absolutely critical in the context of the 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone’s success over the course of the 25-year period and beyond that we embed and 

incubate that cultural capital within the Zone and also across the borough as an impetus to attracting the 

investment that we want to be seeing in terms of business and also the investment from people coming to visit 

that part of capital as a tourist destination. 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  The only thing I would add is that we have recently 

appointed an organisation called the Contemporary Art Society as part of the wider community engagement 

process on the Opportunity Area Planning Framework to use this year’s programme of activity as an 

engagement platform to understand what people want in the area.  Yes, absolutely, it is the whole benefit of 

looking at the Enterprise Zone as a 25-year business case and to think beyond the business rates that are 

being generated.  What other sources of revenue can be generated to provide a long-term sustainable income 

stream to provide cultural and arts programmes beyond the initial five years is absolutely at the heart of the 

thinking about the design of that programme. 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  That is already underway.  There is a huge amount of 

collaboration between the team at Newham Council that drives forward some of our current cultural 

programmes.  Last November [2018] for the first time ever, in Newham we run an annual fireworks display and 

we decided as a part of us wanting to give prominence to the south of the borough and the Royal Docks 

Enterprise Zone specifically, we would host our fireworks display.  We had some 15,000 people not only from 

Newham but from outside of Newham coming to enjoy that cultural provision. 

 

Page 36



 

 

We are currently working with the Royal Borough of Greenwich relating to an arts programme and we are in 

detailed discussions around the collaboration between the Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Delivery Team and the 

Newham team around programmed cultural activities across the summer from next year [2020]. 

 

Joanne McCarthy AM:  Good.  That sounds hopeful.  Thank you. 

 

2019/11380 - Underspends in community and environmental projects 

Caroline Russell AM 

 

Could you explain why there are significant underspends in your support for community and environmental 

projects? 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Could I ask for you to start by looking at the commercial boiler retrofit because that is 

what I would like to look at in detail. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Yes, I am going to take this one, of course.  I will come to the 

commercial boiler retrofit, but just by way of an overview I will just make the point that overall the LEAP spent 

more than £100 million on our programmes across London between 2017 and 2019, which is almost in line 

with forecast at just 3% below. 

 

I am conscious of your time and so let me turn to the Cleaner Heat Cashback scheme.  This was developed to 

address carbon dioxide and nitrogen oxide emissions from commercial buildings in support of the Mayor’s 

ambition to make London a zero-carbon city but also in recognition of the increasing risk to the economy of a 

perception of inaction in tackling environmental issues and also to help businesses address their fuel bills. 

 

You may have noticed that the LEAP Board is due to consider a proposal on this next week at its main meeting 

because there has been a significant underspend against the budget.  An underspend of over £9 million is 

forecast and, as soon as we became aware that this was the situation, we took swift action to bring a paper to 

the LEAP Board.  The paper to the LEAP Board next week will propose a rescoping of the programme to 

reduce the budget back quite dramatically to a £500,000 budget.  That residual funding will be repurposed 

into the Business Low Emission Neighbourhoods programme, which has been very successful so far, and into 

the Good Growth Fund.  The Good Growth Fund will specifically target air quality initiatives with some of that 

funding as well. 

 

Just to conclude, the key question is about why there has been that underspend.  There is a lot of learning 

from this.  One of the points that I would want to make is that it is really important we use our money to test 

things and this is what I would call a pilot project.  To summarise, one of the issues we have with this is the 

lack of a burning platform.  For an SME, there is nothing compelling them to replace their boiler.  This is a 

carrot rather than a stick.  We know from the Ultra Low Emission Zone, for example, that in order to have 

impact a combination of both is needed.  There are also other complexities in terms of the thresholds in the 

scheme and we are looking to address some of that with the redesign of the scheme to make it easier for 

businesses to participate. 

 

I guess one of the messages that I would want you to take away is that on the one hand it is important that we 

pilot programmes - otherwise, we will just continue to plough the same furrow - but on the other hand, as 

soon as it became clear that this programme was not going to deliver, we took swift action to repurpose that 

funding. 

 

Page 37



 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Just be clear, you are repurposing how much of the funding? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  The total programme is a £10 million programme.  We are retaining 

£500,000 within the Cleaner Heat Cashback.  The remaining funding is being repurposed to the Business Low 

Emission Neighbourhoods and the Good Growth Fund. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  That is some of the money that was announced earlier today for the Good Growth 

Fund.  What we have here is a situation where it seems like you had a lot of projects just getting stuck because 

they could not get through the threshold to actually apply, apart from the ones that did not even know that 

they wanted to apply for it. 

 

Do you think that if you had simplified that application process, you might have been able to get more people 

through?  Of the 30 projects that are currently stuck in your application process, are those going to be covered 

by the £500,000 you have left in the programme?  Are you going to deliver on those existing projects? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  The funding that we have left in the programme will deliver on all 

projects that can meet the criteria and the new thresholds.  We have retained enough funding to be able to 

meet the needs of the businesses that can meet the criteria of the fund. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  There are over a million SMEs in London and this programme has dealt with just  

32 small businesses.  If we are serious about tackling the climate emergency, we need to be reaching 

thousands or tens of thousands of businesses with their boilers. 

 

Will you also be looking at plans to scale this back up again or are you just giving up on it completely? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  No, we are absolutely not giving up.  One of the benefits of the 

London LEAP is that it is situated within the work of the wider GLA and the Environment team and so this 

programme is situated within the Environment Strategy and the work of the Environment team.  We are 

absolutely not giving up on it, but part of this is about lobbying the Government for regulation as well.  It is 

that burning platform point. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I am out of time.  It is very disappointing but I am out of time and so I will stop there.  

Thank you. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  These are also questions for Debbie, I am afraid. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  All right.  That is fine. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I wanted to ask about the Small Sites Small Builders programme, which has also seen a very 

significant underspend so far.  £415,000 has been spent of the £3 million budget to date.  The total project 

budget for that is £15 million and that is very slow. 

 

What are you doing to rectify that and have you thought about taking some of the land plots and maybe 

putting them out to community-led housing, which we know is queuing up for sites?  There was a massive 

Page 38



 

 

oversubscription of the two Transport for London (TfL) sites that were put forward for that.  If you are having 

trouble with small builders, maybe they could step in? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Small Sites Small Builders has already been to the LEAP Investment 

Committee to address the underspend and repurpose that underspend to the Good Growth Fund.  The LEAP 

Investment Committee considered the reasons for that underspend.  The programme is targeted at two 

outcomes.  It is targeted at bringing forward housing and affordable housing development on small sites and 

also at supporting the SME and community builders market.  The programme in the pilot stage you are 

referring to with the TfL sites - you are right - got great interest and we absolutely want to do more of that. 

 

One of the challenges of that programme - and it is a good thing - is that since the programme was first 

launched, local authorities are doing a huge amount on small sites now.  We have had to slightly rethink our 

target market, if you like, because whereas originally we thought that this programme would provide the 

unlocked sites in the public sector and particularly in local authorities that were otherwise not being looked at, 

actually lots of local authorities have really active programmes.  Look at Croydon with its Brick By Brick 

programme that is now bringing forward these sites.  The original purpose the programme was intended for has 

slightly shifted. 

 

It is also a brand-new programme that is quite complex and, if I am perfectly honest with you, there was an 

overestimation of what could be achieved in the early stages. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes.  It clearly was going to involve quite a lot of detailed work. 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  It is a first-year underspend.  We anticipate a second-year delivery.  

It is a bit different to the Cleaner Heat Cashback, which is a total scale down of the programme.  I would 

describe Small Sites Small Builders more as a first-year underspend and that money has been repurposed.  It 

has not just been pushed back.  We are anticipating second-year delivery against that programme. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I will follow that up.  Thank you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Just a few quick ones if I may, please.  I believe that millions of pounds were given to Film 

London from the Growing Places Fund.  Is that correct? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I am afraid I am having to cast my mind back because that would 

have been under the last administration.  I am sorry.  I will have to come back to you separately. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK, if you could come back to us, please?  Also, where would it be?  There are projects from 

the last administration on the website when you look in between everything else, but I could not find anything 

to do with that. 

 

Can you tell me how many live projects are running at the moment? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I gave you the figure of about 200 grant agreements that we have 

live at the moment. 

 

Page 39



 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You can send us details of those, can you? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  Yes, we have done so before.  We are happy to do it again. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, please.  That would be helpful.  How many people work in your department checking on 

these schemes? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  The work of the LEAP is distributed across a number of teams in 

City Hall in every single department.  The team that oversees the work of the LEAP is the Regeneration and 

Economic Development team, which has about 70 to 80 people, but they are not exclusively working on the 

LEAP.  There are people across the Authority working on the outcomes of the LEAP. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  On 8 May 2019 the Royal Docks Summer Festival put out an advert inviting applications for 

grants.  Does that mean that the beach party is going ahead again this year [2019] and will it be GLA funded? 

 

Debbie Jackson (Interim Executive Director for Development, Enterprise and Environment, GLA, 

and LEAP Senior Responsible Owner):  I will let my colleagues respond to that. 

 

Mayor Rokhsana Fiaz OBE (Member of the London Economic Action Partnership and Co-Chair, 

Royal Docks Enterprise Zone Programme Board):  I will make some initial comments in relation to the 

coverage of the activity at the Royal Docks last summer [2018] as follows. 

 

The Royal Docks Enterprise Zone covers an area that has been neglected for decades.  It is in a part of my 

borough, Newham, which has amongst it the most deep and insidious instances of poverty and social isolation.  

The activity that was provided last summer [2018] involved numbers of young people from Newham enjoying 

fun and accessing a space that they had felt was previously impenetrable.  This summer [2019] we are 

intending to continue with a similar type of activity, very much geared again to families, young people and 

kids, to be able to enjoy the outdoor environment in a very special place that is a really captivating part of 

London. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is nice.  £400,000 for a beach party and we are in times of austerity.  To go back to the 

question, will it be GLA funded this year [2019]? 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  This year [2019] we have changed the format of the 

event that happened last year.  It is going to be for a shorter period of time.  It is an event called Kids Summer 

Splash.  It is going to be focused on giving children access to the water and also to a paddling pool.  It is 

funded through the Enterprise Zone and so it is effectively LEAP funded.  It is funded through the business 

rate income that is generated within the Zone and is part of the broader £212 million delivery plan.  We see it 

as a very important and effective way to engage with local young people and families during the summer 

months and gain access to the docks.  Also, we use it as a way to engage with them through a community 

consultation and engagement exercise and informing them what is happening to their neighbourhoods and 

how they can put forward their views on what is happening, too. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How much do you think this splash thing will cost this year [2019]? 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  The budget this year [2019] is £300,000.  Last year 

[2018] 50,000 people attended over the course of the event.  We expect to at least match if not exceed that 

Page 40



 

 

this year.  Yes, as I say, it is a for a shorter period of time.  It is not being run this year as Dock Beach.  It is a 

different format. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It is not a beach party.  It is a splash party. 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  It was not a beach party -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Last year it was £400,000.  This year it is £300,000.  Do you really think that this is a good 

use of taxpayers’ money or do you think that perhaps some of that money should go into policing so that we 

can stop these youngsters getting damaged as they are? 

 

Daniel Bridge (Programme Director, Royal Docks):  The question earlier was that we cannot use this 

funding to pay for police.  This is funding that is ringfenced as part of a much broader activation programme 

across the Royal Docks to make this a place that is attractive to occupiers and is engaging the new and 

surrounding communities.  There was a business case for that activity and the Board has judged that it is very 

good value for money and an important part of a much broader four-month-long activation programme. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You see, some of us would think that £400,000 for a beach party and £300,000 - all 

taxpayers’ money - for a splash party is actually not good use of taxpayers’ money.  In these days of austerity I 

am quite surprised to hear you thinking that it is a good idea.  I will finish there.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Good morning, Deputy Mayor.  Deputy Mayor, I was a little bit disappointed that in your 

opening speech you took the opportunity to do a bit of Brexit bashing and you said that Brexit was having a 

negative impact on the economy.  I would wholly disagree with that statement because, despite Project Fear - 

which has been going on for four years now with people saying that Brexit is going to lead to 3 million job 

losses and is going to lead to the financial services industry collapsing and is going to lead to people having to 

pay inordinate amounts more tax every year - none of those things have happened.  Actually, Brexit has been 

fantastic for the nation and has been really good for the economy, particularly London’s economy.  We are 

booming in this city. 

 

Should you not have been more positive about Brexit or even just said nothing at all in your opening statement 

if you did not agree with it because we are doing very well? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  What can I say?  In the last three years I have been speaking to businesses big 

and small from all different sectors.  There are literally thousands of businesses that I have spoken to.  Not one 

business that I have come across is excited about Brexit, not one business. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You are talking to different people than I am talking to, obviously. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Yes, I would love to meet the people you are meeting.  I do not know the people 

you are talking about, but none of the businesses that I speak to - and I speak to businesses of all sizes from 

all different sectors - is excited about Brexit.  On the contrary, they see Brexit as a big risk to business.  We 

have already seen sterling drop significantly.  It is a huge cause of concern around attracting and retaining 

talent.  We are fighting because Brexit has caused huge damage to the reputation of this country and of this 

city.  That is why we are fighting that. 

 

Page 41



 

 

David Kurten AM:  Deputy Mayor, Brexit has not caused any damage to the reputation of this country.  In 

fact, it has enhanced the reputation of this country because we are going to be walking into freedom and 

prosperity.  We have the opportunity to create and do magnificent trade deals with other countries around the 

world. 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  Last time I checked, we were already a free country. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Deputy Mayor, I am sure you are aware of the wonderful visit by President Trump [of the 

United States (US)] to this country this week and that he has offered us a wonderful trade deal and all we need 

to do is actually get out of the EU and break our shackles. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Assembly Member Kurten, you are well off your -- 

 

David Kurten AM:  Then we will have this wonderful opportunity.  Do you not think in the LEAP that 

President Trump’s offer of a trade deal is going to be really good for London? 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  I do not know if anybody heard that question. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Obviously some people were not wanting me to speak and put forward the positive case 

for Brexit, but I can repeat my question. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That is right.  Do you want to put your question again? 

 

David Kurten AM:  I would be very happy to repeat my question again because Brexit is a fantastic 

opportunity for the country and particularly as we have seen with President Trump visiting the country this 

week and offering a trade deal to this country.  Do you, representing the LEAP, see the opportunities of a 

trade deal for London? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  I have not seen any opportunity in the last three years with regard to Brexit.  I 

speak to businesses.  Businesses do not see Brexit as an opportunity.  They see it as a threat. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I was asking you about the potential trade deal between the UK and the US.  Do you see 

that as an opportunity? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  What we are worried about is the risk of coming out of the single market, which 

we will do as we walk out.  We are worried about the risk of leaving the EU without a deal, as we might do in 

October.  That is what businesses are concerned about right now. 

 

David Kurten AM:  You are being a little bit too negative, Deputy Mayor, because -- 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  I am being realistic. 

 

David Kurten AM:  -- there are so many good things that have happened in the last three years since the 

referendum in economic terms.  Foreign direct investment is up.  Wages for workers are up.  Employment is up.  

There has never been -- 

Page 42



 

 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  I am sorry to interrupt my colleague, Chair.  On a point of order, Chair, I am struggling 

very much to hear both him and the Deputy Mayor’s answers because of the constant barracking from Labour 

Members.  Could we please tone it down?  I know it arouses strong emotions but, seriously, I cannot hear a 

single word of what is being said because all I can hear is Labour Members barracking the Member in my ear. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  I took that on when I just asked the Member to repeat his question. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  It did not seem to stop them, Chair. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  If it does not stop them, we will keep on doing this and then we will stay 

here all day until the Member can give his question in a way that we can all hear it. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I make another point of order? 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  No, can you sit down until I have finished?  Can I just ask the Member?  

Does he feel that he has been able to put his question now sufficiently? 

 

David Kurten AM:  Chair, I feel very upset at the barracking and harassment that was coming from across the 

room. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Do you feel you have been able to put your question appropriately or 

were you disturbed by the noise coming from other Members? 

 

David Kurten AM:  I was disturbed, Chair.  I was disturbed and I do thank Assembly Member Bacon for his 

support. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  As soon as I have dealt with this new point of order, I am 

going to go back to you again and I am going to ask Members to treat Assembly Member Kurten with the 

respect that he treated all of you when you had your moment with the panel.  We will do that in a moment.  

Tell me which section the point of order is. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  The point of order is that because of the barracking from the Members opposite, 

Assembly Member Kurten has had to repeat his question, which I calculated lost him at least a minute of his 

time.  I would plead that we add a minute to his time. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  I have just dealt with that.  Thank you.  Assembly Member Kurten, 

please put your question to our guest. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you, Chair.  If I could repeat my question, I started off by saying, Deputy Mayor, 

that you were a little bit too negative in your last answer about Brexit because in the last three years we have 

seen some wonderful effects and very positive effects to the economy.  Employment is up.  There have never 

been so many jobs in London as there are now.  Visitor numbers to London are up.  Wages for workers and 

laborers are up.  Foreign direct investment is up.  There are more start-ups in London than ever before, even 

more than in Paris and Berlin combined.  All of these things have happened in the last three years. 

 

Page 43



 

 

Do you not acknowledge that there is all this good news and see that when we do actually have Brexit there 

will be some more wonderful opportunities for our city? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  It is very clear when speaking to businesses, as I have done.  I have spoken to 

thousands of businesses in the last three years and I have not come across a single business that sees Brexit as 

an opportunity and is excited about it.  On the contrary, businesses are really worried about leaving the EU.  

They are worried.  They are already finding it difficult to hire a workforce in some of the key areas.  They are 

worried about the fact that we might leave the EU without a deal in October [2019].  They are worried about 

the uncertainty that it has caused in the last three years with no clarity whatsoever from the Government. 

 

I joined this job as the Deputy Mayor six days after the referendum.  Things were clear as mud then.  Things 

are clear as mud right now for businesses. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I do agree with you on [The Rt Hon] Theresa May [MP, Prime Minister] and the way she 

has dealt with the process.  If we had Nigel Farage [Leader, Brexit Party] in charge, the process would be going 

far better and there would be far more clarity in the process. 

 

You say you have not spoken to any businesses that are positive about Brexit.  I spoke to one just two days 

ago because I went to a pub in Hammersmith that has renamed itself the Trump Arms.  I went to speak at a 

celebration of President Trump’s visit to the UK and they were very positive about Brexit.  Perhaps you need to 

speak to some different kinds of businesses to get a different point of view because I assure you.  There is a lot 

of excitement about a Brexit.  As you know, 1.5 million people in this city voted to leave the EU, which is more 

than voted for your boss, Sadiq Khan.  There you go, I am afraid.  There is a lot of support for Brexit in 

London. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  That was a comment.  I did not hear a question there. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Do you not agree? 

 

Rajesh Agrawal (Deputy Mayor for Business and London Economic Action Partnership Co-Deputy 

Chair for Mayor’s Office):  I do not know if this is the right forum.  This is LEAP-related, I thought. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  If you bring it into your statement - and you did in your opening 

statement - then it is a matter for questioning. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM (Chair):  Let us now move on to Part B.  I thank members of the panel for their 

contributions here this morning. 

 

I would just like to say that many of you were involved in exchanges on some pretty important questions and 

so I am happy if you want to send in supplementary comments to us as soon as possible.  We will then append 

them to our document.  Especially Simon [Pitkeathley], you were giving some really detailed information and 

made an ask of the Assembly.  If that could be formalised in writing, that would be great, and also I know a 

number of other witnesses were speaking about some quite detailed developments in their areas.  Thank you 

very much. 

Page 44



  

 

London Assembly Plenary, 4 July 2019 

PRIORITY ORDER PAPER 

 

Report No:   4 

Subject:   Questions regarding the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation 
(OPDC) with Liz Peace CBE, Chair, OPDC; and David Lunts, Interim Chief 
Executive, OPDC. 

Report of:   Executive Director of Secretariat 

Governance and Leadership at the OPDC 
Question No: 2019/12660 
Navin Shah 

[to the Interim Chief Executive] What will be the main priorities of the incoming Chief 
Executive?  

Housing Infrastructure Fund 
Question No: 2019/12661 
Sian Berry 

How has the Housing Infrastructure Fund process helped progress the OPDC plans? 

Maximising the Opportunities of the OPDC 
Question No: 2019/12662 
Tony Devenish 

How can the Mayor and the Government help you “sell” OPDC to sovereign wealth funds 
with the necessary long-term perspective to unlock billions of pounds and therefore tens of 
thousands of homes and jobs by the mid- 2020s? 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4

https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/12660
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/12660
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/12661
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/12661
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/12662
https://www.london.gov.uk/questions/2019/12662


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Petitions  

Report to: London Assembly (Plenary)  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date 4 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public  
 
 
 
1.  Summary 
 

1.1 This report sets out details of petition to be presented at this meeting by Assembly Members. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Assembly is recommended to note the petition listed in the report and to decide 

whether to refer the petition, and if so where to, and to seek a response to the points 

raised. 

 

 

3. Background 
 

3.1 Standing Orders 3.20 to 3.21 make provision for the presentation of petitions by an 

Assembly Member at an ordinary meeting of the Assembly. 

 

A petition to be presented must: 

 

(a)  Be addressed to the Mayor, the Assembly, a Functional Body (as the case may be); 

 

(b)  Clearly indicate the name, address and contact telephone number of the person organising 

the petition, or where the petition was organised on the internet, its data controller; 

 

(c)  Be presented in the form of printed sheets, each of which includes the “prayer” of the 

petition (the “prayer” is the formal request or other subject matter of the petition) or, if the 

petition was organised on the internet, clearly demonstrate that internet users who 

subscribed to the petition knew what the prayer was;  

 

(d)  Include each petitioner’s name (which may be printed or be in the form of a signature, 

provided that the signature is legible) and address (sufficient that the person and their 

address can be identified) or, where the petition was organised on the internet, their names 

and email addresses; 

 

(e)  Indicate the total number of manual or electronic signatories to the petition; and 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



    
    

 

(f)  Young people aged 17 or under signing a petition may give their address as that of the 

school, or other recognised youth group or similar organisation that they attend (with details 

of their class name where appropriate), provided that the lead petitioner is a teacher at or 

leader of that school or youth group or similar organisation. 

 

(g) Indicate the total number of manual or electronic signatories to the petition; and 

 

(h)  Refer to matters within the responsibilities of the Mayor, the London Assembly or the 

functional bodies, or to matters of importance to Londoners, including those who visit, live 

or work in Greater London. 

 

3.2 Notice of the intention to present a petition at an Assembly meeting and a copy of the petition must 

be given to the Executive Director of the Secretariat by no later than 12 noon six clear working days 

before that meeting. 

 

3.3 Under Standing Orders the Member presenting the petition will read out the prayer of the petition 

(but not the signatories). The Assembly will not debate the petition. If the Assembly agrees without 

debate, the petition will be forwarded to the Mayor, Functional Body, relevant committee or other 

organisation with a request for a response to the points made by the petitioner.  The response 

received will be reported to the Assembly for information and forwarded to the petition’s organiser.  

The prayer of the petition and the response received will be published in the appropriate Assembly 

Minutes. 

 

 

4. Petitions to be presented 
 

4.1 Notice of the following petitions has been received: 

 

4.2 A petition received by Navin Shah AM is to be presented to the London Assembly, in accordance 

with Standing Orders 3.20 to 3.21, saying: 

 
“We the undersigned residents, traders, businesses and stakeholders urge you to make 
Willesden Green Station step free as a matter of top priority. 
 
The station with 30 steps is a prime candidate and meets your criteria for lifts. 

 The station is located in proximity of residential areas and requires lift facilities for 

the accessibility of disabled people, older people and infants and children in 

pushchairs. 

 The station is suitably located adjacent to the high street which his widely used by 

commuters and is an economic hub. 

 The station provides invaluable access to places of worship such as mosques, 

churches, temples etc which are community hubs. 

 
The 2005 Feasibility study proposed a small lift inserted through the steps leading 
to/from the Jubilee Line platform. We do not believe this to be a viable option, as such a 
scheme would involve long station and track closures and after completion will make 

Page 48



    
    

congestion worse on the steps, especially at peak time. It would also have a detrimental 
impact on the listed building status of the station building. 
 
We urge you and TfL to prioritise a lift at this station by undertaking a new costed 
feasibility study looking at an alternative lift and bridge access to the Jubilee Line 
platforms from Station Parade. Also, we request you to prioritise the step-free access by 
including TfL’s next business plan and work with Brent Council to establish third party 
funding through funding raised from Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy 
requirements and development of TfL land/assets in Brent.” 

 

 It is recommended that this petition be forwarded to the Mayor of London in his capacity as holder 

Chair of Transport for London. 

 

 The petition has 881 signatories. 

 

The contact person for this petition is: Thierry Caro, Willesden Green Access Group, 53 Balmoral 

Road, London, NW2 5BN. 

 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 By virtue of sections 59, 34 and 53 of the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Assembly has the power 

to do what is recommended in this report.  

 

5.2 Under Standing Order 3.20 the petitions presented to the Assembly, together with the pages 

containing the names and addresses of the signatories to the petition, are documents to which the 

access to information rules from sections 100A - H and Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 

1972 apply. 

 

5.3 Any applications from Members to see the names and addresses of the signatories to the petition 

will be considered by the Executive Director of Secretariat on a case by case basis and in accordance 

with the relevant statutory provisions.  

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 49

mailto:clare.bryant@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Motions  

Report to: London Assembly (Plenary)  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 4 July 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public  
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 The Assembly is asked to consider the motions set out which have been submitted by Assembly 

Members. 

 

 

2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Assembly considers the motions submitted by Assembly Members as set out 

below. 

 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 

 

3.1 The following motion has been proposed in the name of Keith Prince AM and will be seconded by 

Steve O’Connell AM: 

 
“This Assembly notes that the GMB Union recently passed Motion 412 which called “for 

the Mayor of London to appoint an independent investigation to review why TfL failed to 

supply critical tram safety evidence to the Croydon Tram Crash Investigators, the Office 

of Road & Rail and the British Transport Police.” 

“This Assembly agrees with the GMB Union that there are serious questions to answer 
with regard to the Croydon Tram Crash, wholeheartedly supports the GMB’s request and 
calls upon the Mayor to appoint an independent investigation.” 

 
 
3.2 The following motion has been proposed in the name of Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM and will be  

seconded by Florence Eshalomi AM: 

 

“This Assembly reiterates its support for Crossrail 2 noting that TfL modelling shows that 

the capital’s transport network will grind to a halt without the project.   Furthermore, this 

Assembly notes that without Crossrail 2, at least 17 Underground stations will buckle 

under crowding pressures and thousands of passengers arriving at Euston on HS2 Phase 2 

could lose times saved on their journeys queuing to board onward Tube trains. 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



        

“This Assembly further notes that no other infrastructure project tackles so many local 

and regional challenges while boosting overall capacity on such a scale.  Crossrail 2 would 

increase London’s rail capacity by 10 per cent and support 200,000 additional new homes 

and 200,000 new jobs.  This Assembly believes Crossrail 2 would contribute to bringing 

forward the new homes this city needs. 

 

“This Assembly however expresses its concern at present that there are insufficient 

safeguarding directions for Crossrail 2 with only 35% of the current preferred alignment 

safeguarded.   

 

“This Assembly recognises the importance of the need to update the directions to reflect 

the new preferred alignment in the central section and to include the areas of land that 

are needed to build the railway in Hertfordshire and Surrey that are currently not 

safeguarded.   This Assembly also recognises that at present there are more than 30 

known sites being promoted or brought forward by developers outside the current limits 

of safeguarding with planning permissions being granted that would directly conflict with 

the ability to deliver Crossrail 2. 

 

“This Assembly calls upon the Mayor to immediately write to the Secretary of State for 

Transport urging that new and extended safeguarding directions are provided across 

London, Hertfordshire and Surrey to ensure the successful delivery of Crossrail 2 in the 

future.”  
 

3.3 The following motion has been proposed in the name of Léonie Cooper AM and will be seconded 

by Joanne McCartney AM: 

 

“The London Assembly notes that each year, at least 8 million tonnes of plastics are 

discarded into the world’s oceans – equivalent to the contents of a rubbish truck every 

minute.1 Furthermore, a recent study found that many fish in the river Thames have 

ingested plastic fibres, as much as 75% of one species.2 In the UK we use 7 million 

disposable coffee cups every day – that’s 2.5 billion every year – and very few are 

recycled.3 

 

“The Assembly also notes the Mayor’s previous work to reduce single-use plastic 

consumption in London, in particular the water refill scheme, which was implemented 

following an Environment Committee investigation into single-use plastic bottles. 

 

“The Assembly believes that more needs to be done at national level to reduce the 

quantities of plastic in circulation by increasing the uptake of non-plastic alternatives and 

recycled plastic only where necessary. Londoners’ ability to cut down on single-use plastic 

is to a large extent dependent on the availability of alternatives on the market. 

 

“The Assembly therefore calls on the Mayor to lobby Government to strengthen their 

forthcoming resources and waste policies following the consultation periods, by 

                                                 
1 Ellen MacArthur Foundation, The New Plastics Economy: Rethinking the Future of Plastic, 2017 
2 McGoran, A.R., Clark P.F., and Morritt, Presence of microplastic in the digestive tracts of European flounder, Platichthys flesus, 
and European smelt, Osmerus eperlanus,from the River Thames, Environmental Pollution, 2016 
3 The Independent, Disposable coffee cups: How big a problem are they for the environment?, January 2018 

Page 52

https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/assets/downloads/EllenMacArthurFoundation_TheNewPlasticsEconomy_Pages.pdf
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.09.078
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.09.078
https://www.independent.co.uk/environment/disposable-coffee-cups-how-big-problem-environment-landfill-recycling-incinerate-export-rubbish-a8142381.html


        

introducing a tax on all single-use plastics and banning single-use, non-recyclable hot 

drinks cups. 

 

“The Assembly also calls on the Mayor to work with Government to designate London as a 

pilot city for their forthcoming Deposit Return Scheme, as was recommended in the 

previous Environment Committee report.4” 

 

3.4 The following motion has been proposed in the name of Unmesh Desai AM and will be seconded 

by Florence Eshalomi AM: 

 

“2018 was another year in which the Metropolitan Police Service was placed under serious 

strain. The number of violent crimes committed rose, the threat from terrorism remained 

severe and there have been a number of high-profile protests for the police to oversee. 

This Assembly praises the dedication and bravery of police officers, special constables and 

PCSOs who keep Londoners safe.   

  

“The Assembly notes that the Home Office awarded police officers a 2% pay rise in the 

police pay award for 2018/19. However, this was less than the 3% rise recommended the 

Police Renumeration Review Body. [1] Furthermore, the decision to not consolidate the 1% 

unconsolidated award made in 2017/18 meant the real terms pay rise was less than 1%.[2] 

 

“London weighting was also increased by 2% in the Home Office’s decision on the police 

pay award. However, the Metropolitan Police Service had recommended a fundamental 

review of London allowances and called for the Commissioner to be given the ability to 

increase core London allowances by up to 33% to deal with recruitment and retention of 

officers, in the context of rising costs of living, particularly with housing.[3]  

 

“In January 2019, the Home Secretary wrote to the Police Remuneration Review Body, 

asking it to conduct the annual review of police pay for 2019/20. The Assembly notes that 

the MPS is calling for the consolidation of the non-consolidated three year pay 

settlement of 4% in 2019, 0% in 2020 and 2% in 2021[4]; and that police staff associations 

have called for a 5% pay rise in each of these years.[5] 

 

“Police officers are legally banned from going on strike and so it is essential that the 

process of setting their levels of pay is transparent and fair. Following the Home office’s 

decision to ignore the recommendation of the independent Police Renumeration Review 

Body, the Police Federation have taken the unprecedented step of instigating a judicial 

review of the process.    

  

                                                 
4 London Assembly Environment Committee, Bottled Water, April 2017 
[1] 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728354/Final_PRRB_EW
_2018_Report_-_web_accessible.pdf 
[2] https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-
hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf 
[3] https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-
hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf, page 3.  
[4] https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-
hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf 
[5] https://www.polfed.org/norfolk/news/2019/feds-2019-submission-to-pay-review-body/ 

Page 53

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/environment_committee_-_bottled_water_-_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728354/Final_PRRB_EW_2018_Report_-_web_accessible.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728354/Final_PRRB_EW_2018_Report_-_web_accessible.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/foi-media/metropolitan-police/priorities_and_how_we_are_doing/corporate/met-hq-people-change-mps-police-remuneration-review-body-2019.pdf
https://www.polfed.org/norfolk/news/2019/feds-2019-submission-to-pay-review-body/


        

“This Assembly calls on the Mayor to write to the Government asking that it ensures that 

police officers are given a pay rise which reflects the excellent work police officers 

undertake in London and which takes into account the recommendations of the Police 

Renumeration Review Body. The Government should fully fund the cost of any pay rise 

announced in the 2019/20 police pay awards to give the MPS the confidence to fairly 

remunerate police officers for their outstanding work keeping London safe, without the 

need to compromise other parts of the Service.” 

 

3.5 The following motion has been proposed in the name of Dr Onkar Sahota AM and will be 

seconded by Fiona Twycross AM: 

 

“The London Assembly notes with concern the low rates of vaccination for Measles, 

Mumps and Rubella (MMR) for children in London, compared to elsewhere in the UK, and 

further notes that Public Health England has attributed recent outbreaks of measles to 

children missing out on vaccinations.  

 

“The Assembly also notes the large discrepancy in vaccination rates between London 

Boroughs. While no London borough meets the MMR national target of 95% vaccination 

by two years of age, there is a 17.5 percentage point gap between the best and worst 

areas of the city. 

 

“This Assembly believes, in line with overwhelming medical evidence, that vaccines are 

crucial to promote herd immunity, whereby the potential for any one case of a disease to 

spread is strongly limited, and to protect immunocompromised children, who cannot be 

vaccinated for medical reasons, from harmful infections. 

 

“This Assembly further believes that vaccination programmes have been hindered by the 

loss of £66.8m from the public health allocation to London Boroughs since 2015, and 

continuing high vacancy rates in the NHS. In the first three months of 2019, there were 

1236 community health service jobs vacant in London, which covers such vital staff as 

school and district nurses.  

 

“This Assembly calls on the Mayor to work with the London Prevention Partnership 

Board, early years centres, schools and health professionals, through Healthy Schools 

London and Healthy Early Years London, to increase the uptake of vaccines and to dispel 

myths about vaccines. 

 

“This Assembly also calls on the Mayor to include education about the history, science 

and importance of vaccines in the London Curriculum, focusing on key figures and points 

in the history of vaccines such as Edward Jenner and Lady Mary Wortley Montagu.” 

 

3.6 The following motion has been proposed in the name of Andrew Boff AM and will be seconded by 

Joanne McCartney AM: 

 

“This Assembly urges the Mayor to ensure TfL staff are trained to assist passengers with 

disabilities by: respecting the passenger’s wishes as to the level of help they require, not 

drawing unnecessary public attention to the passenger and by providing reasonable 

assistance to passengers to enable them to travel in the way that they choose.” 

Page 54



        

 

3.7 The following motion has been proposed in the name of Caroline Russell AM and will be seconded 

by Sian Berry AM: 

 

“This Assembly notes:  

 The growing body of scientific evidence showing a link between glyphosate 

exposure and an increased risk of cancer; 

 The use of glyphosate in London is causing concern among residents and elected 

representatives about its potential harmful effects on children, animals and wildlife 

on our streets, housing estates and parks;   

 The contracting staff who carry out this work need to be protected from harm; 

 The work of Transport for London (TfL) with suppliers and contractors to explore 

safer alternatives for essential vegetation management and weed control;  

 The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham was the first council in London 

to cease the use of glyphosate, to support biodiversity and protect habitat against 

any long-term chemical effect; 

 Other London Boroughs such as Hackney and Croydon are trialling non-chemical 

weed removal and exploring alternatives; and 

 In June 2019 the German state-owned rail operator Deutsche Bahn announced it 

would stop using glyphosate on its tracks and is looking for substitutes to replace 

the widely used glyphosate herbicide. 
 

“In light of the public and occupational health concerns about glyphosate exposure and 

the need to protect habitat and biodiversity we call on the Mayor of London to: 

 cease the use of glyphosate on GLA land and the TfL estate and to set out a 

timetable for its removal. 

 call on London boroughs to cease the use of glyphosate in all council operations as 

soon as possible. 

“To manage this process, we ask the Mayor of London to facilitate a GLA working group 

for London borough representatives, specialists and other key land managers in London 

to work towards the removal; of this and any other harmful herbicides.” 

 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The Assembly has the power to do what is recommended in this report.  

 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no direct finance implications arising from this report 
 
 
 

Page 55



        

 
List of appendices to this report: None. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Clare Bryant, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4616 

Email: clare.bryant@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 56


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - transcript

	4 Question and Answer Session - Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation
	5 Petitions
	6 Motions

